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Carver Bancorp, Inc. is the holding company 
of Carver Federal Savings Bank, a federally 
chartered savings bank. Carver was founded 
nearly 60 years ago by visionary community 
leaders to serve the financial serviccs needs of 
African- and Caribbean-Americans in New 
York City. Today, Carver is the largest 
publicly traded African- and Caribbean- 
American run financial institution in the 
United States. 

Carver Federal Savings Bank is an urban 
cormnunity development bank dedicated to 
providing a full range of financial services to 
its customers. Carver is committed to 
rnecting the credit needs of the communities it 
serves, increasing profitability and enhancing 
stockholder value. 
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~ % T E R  FROM THE CHAIRMAN AND C E d  

Dear Carver Stockholder: 

These are very exciting times for Carver because of a number of noteworthy accomplishments in fiscal 2006 and 
the opportunities ahead of us in fiscal 2007. 

First, Carver delivered solid results during fiscal 2006, despite significant headwinds in our industry driven by the 
very challenging interest rate and competitive climate. Our lending and retail departments produced loan 
portfolio growth of 17% and deposit growth of 1 1%, respectively. We were therefore able to reduce relatively 
lower yielding securities and relatively more expensive borrowings, helping to offset substantial pressure on our 
net interest margin and better position our balance sheet in a continuing effort to improve our margin for the 
future. Our fee income performance was very strong and we made solid gains in reducing costs. 

Second, on April 6t” we announced our agreement to acquire Community Ca ita1 Bank, a small business lender 
based in Brooklyn. We are on track to close this transaction on September 30‘ and look forward to our ability to 
expand our product base beyond Carver’s traditional strength in real estate lending. Our acquisition of 
Community Capital will help us develop relationships with small business owners and deepen our relationships 
with non-profits, real estate developers, and landlords. These new business relationships should help us boost our 
loan yield as well as lower our cost of deposits, while boosting fee income. 
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Finally, we have had a very encouraging response to our Company’s efforts from city, state and federal agencies. 
The state and city have provided an important bridge for Carver as the communities in which we operate grow 
their savings and investment potential. This year we were awarded a Banking Development District designation 
for our 1451h Street branch in Harlem, an unprecedented third designation for Carver and part of a successful 
public effort to provide incentives to the private sector to establish bank branches in underserved neighborhoods. 
As a result, this branch received deposits of $35 million, of which $10 million was priced 100 basis points below 
prevailing rates, helping Carver weather the difficult interest rate environment and the cost of ramping up a new 
branch. 

And importantly, the U.S. Treasury Department recently awarded Carver its first New Markets Tax Credit 
designation of $59 million, part of an initiative designed to support private investment, economic growth and job 
creation in selected communities. This highly sought after award will generate a 39% credit against Carver’s 
federal tax obligation, a $23 million benefit over the next seven years. These flexible resources will allow Carver 
to expand its investments in business and real estate loans that benefit our community and its residents as well as 
Carver’s franchise to accelerate growth. These resources will also benefit you, our stockholders, as our franchise 
grows but also in the near temi as our Company’s federal taxes are reduced. We will launch a new subsidiary, 
Carver Community Development Corporation, to manage these activities and provide additional details on this 
important development in the coming year. 

Fiscal 2006 Review 

Profitability 
Carver reported $3.8 million in net income available to common stockholders, or $1.47 diluted earnings per 
share, compared with $2.5 million and $1.03, respectively, in fiscal 2005. Fiscal 2006’s performance 
compares to fiscal 2005 in which the company incurred previously disclosed costs related to the attempt to 
acquire Independence Federal Savings Bank in Washington, D.C. 

Return on average assets and return on average equity in fiscal 2006 was 0.60% and 7.93%, compared with 
0.45% and 5.80%, respectively, during fiscal 2005. 
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Carver continues to emphasize growth of re-priceable assets including loans and securities, and remains 
focused on a disciplined approach to credit risk. The Company’s retail efforts are focused on growing 
deposits generally, and seeking to increase lower-cost core deposits in particular. As a result, our net interest 
margin compared favorably with our peers in fiscal 2006. 

Fee Income 
Non-interest income in fiscal 2006 increased $1.3 million or 31.1% to $5.3 million from $4.1 million in fiscal 
2005. Our non-interest income improved compared to fiscal 2005 due largely to the benefits derived from 
loan prepayments as well as new product and delivery channel additions. We are pleased that fiscal 2006’s 
fee income performance demonstrated improvements derived from the investment in our delivery channels, as 
results benefited from year-over-year additions from depository fees, ATM usage, debit card income and 
commissions from wealth management products. 

9 Net Interest Margin 
The Federal Reserve increased short-term rates on eight occasions during fiscal 2006. At Carver, as with our 
industry, the impact of the current interest rate environment has been an increase in the rates we pay on our 
borrowings and some deposits and an increase in our yield on earning assets. However, the rate of increase in 
the yield on earning assets has been slower than the increase in the cost of liabilities. As a result, the 
Company’s net interest margin decreased in fiscal 2006 to 2.97% from 3.41% in fiscal 2005. 

Efficiency Ratio 
In fiscal 2006, the Company’s efficiency ratio decreased to 78.96% from 81.77% in fiscal 2005. We are 
keenly aware that our efficiency ratio exceeds our peers and we are focused on addressing this issue on both 
ends of the income statement, namely revenue growth and prudent cost reductions. In addition to the scale of 
our company, our rapid expansion of branches and 2417 ATM Centers is a primary factor in our expense base, 
as are increasing costs related to regulatory compliance. However, the three branches opened in the past two 
fiscal years are moving to break even and are responsible for a significant percentage of the growth in 
customers and deposits in our franchise, which have positively impacted fee income and margin. We had 
success in delivering on our promise to you last year to attack our cost structure by aggressively pursuing 
outsourcing and vendor management expense savings opportunities. While our focus helped us weather the 
interest rate storm, we expect our product expansion and the pending acquisition of Community Capital Bank, 
combined with the maturity of the investment in our distribution channels, to be important factors in our 
continued effort to improve our performance on this important metric. 

Asset Qualig 
The Company continues to benefit from excellent asset quality. Non-performing loans totaled $2.8 million, 
or 0.55% of total loans receivable at March 31, 2006, compared with $998,000, or 0.23% of total loans 
receivable at March 3 1,2005. The ratio of allowance to non-performing loans at March 3 1,2006 was 147.1% 
compared with 410.7% at March 3 1, 2005. The ratio of allowance for loan losses to total loans receivable at 
March 31, 2006 was 0.81% compared with 0.96% at March 31, 2005. While non-performing assets have 
increased over this period, the level of non-performing assets to total loans remains comparable with our 
Company’s experience and industry norms. The Company reviews its allowance throughout the year and for 
the fourth consecutive fiscal year did not provide for additional loan loss reserves as the Company considers 
the current overall allowance for loan losses to be adequate. 

Value Creation for Stockholders 
For fiscal 2006, stockholders’ equity increased $2.9 million, or 6.3%, to $48.7 million at March 31, 2006 
from $45.8 million at March 31,2005. 



During fiscal 2006, in a sign of confidence in Carver’s long-term earnings outlook, the Company’s Board of 
Directors declared an $0.08 per share dividend for each quarter, up from the $0.07 per share dividend paid 
over the prior four quarters of fiscal 2005. Carver’s Board significantly expanded the dividend in fiscal 2004, 
when the Company moved to a $0.05 per share quarterly dividend compared to a prior practice of paying 
$0.05 in total per fiscal year. Quarterly dividends have increased 60% since fiscal 2004. 

Additional returns were delivered to stockholders in the form of stock repurchases during the fiscal year. As 
of March 3 1 , 2086 the Company purchased 94,474 shares at an average price of $16.90. While we have been 
limited in completing purchases up to Board authorization of 23 1,635 shares by regulatory requirements and 
the limited float in our stock, we remain committed to this valuable tool to return value to stockholders. 

Focus on the Year Ahead 

The fiscal year ending March 31, 2007 presents a number of exciting opportunities for Carver. It also presents 
many of the challenges of the year just ended, namely the interest rate and competitive environment noted earlier. 
Our team is enormously excited about the assets we have worked hard to bring to bear in the year ahead. 

Our priorities for fiscal year 2007 follow: 

SuccessfuIly close and integrate the Communi@ Capital Bank acquisition 
The Community Capital acquisition is an important opportunity to diversify our balance sheet and earnings 
stream as we move beyond our traditional mortgage lending to enter the commercial lending business by 
acquiring an existing portfolio of higher yielding commercial loans, commercial lending experience, and the 
opportunity to develop and cross sell products targeting business customers. The acquisition also presents an 
opportunity to take costs out of the combined entity through the consolidation of systems and other functions. 
To our customers who have long asked for expanded business loan products from Carver, we will soon be 
able to say that “Carver is Open for Business.” 

Our management team is keenly focused on ensuring a smooth integration process, and teams from both 
companies are actively engaged in the planning and processes required to make the transaction a success for 
our stockholders, customers, and employees. Importantly, while we did not factor revenue synergies into our 
pricing of the CCB acquisition, we are hard at work determining the balance of cost savings and investments 
required to generate significant revenue growth for the combined entity. We know that ultimately the true 
value of this investment of your equity will be derived from revenue growth generated by cross sales of loans, 
deposits, investments and other fee generating products. 

Continuing our focus on the basics 
We remain committed to achieving high performance returns for you, our stockholders. In this highly 
competitive period in our industry, we know that we must aggressively focus on delivering greater value from 
our niche strategy. We will continue to invest in organic growth by competing for profitable and solidly 
underwritten loans that will withstand good and bad economic and interest rate cycles. Our retail department 
will continue to focus on growing core deposits, expanding cross sales of lending and investment products. 
Where possible we will continue to shift our asset/liability mix to improve our margin, as we did in Fiscal 
2006. In so doing, we will not lose sight of our search for additional ways to manage our business more 
efficiently. Finally, we will continue to identify prudent acquisitions and alliances that deepen our reach in 
the inner city market and fit with our organic growth strategy. 

In closing, we are encouraged by the momentum propelling Carver’s business forward and enter the new fiscal 
year with optimism. We are fortunate to have a wise and dedicated Board of Directors and we thank them for 
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their advice and support. We also thank our customers, new and not so new, for entrusting us with their precious 
assets. Carver’s employees continue to focus on continuous improvement in products and services for our 
customers, and 1 thank them for their efforts and welcome our Community Capital colleagues to our family. 

And, to Carver’s stockholders, much appreciation for your continued support as we work towards putting Carver 
in the best possible position to deliver superior value. 

Sincerely, 

Dcborah C. Wright 
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer 

July 28,2006 
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FINANCIAL HTGHLTGHTS 

The following tables set forth certain information concerning the consolidated financial condition, earnings 
and other data regarding Carver Bancorp, Inc. at the dates and for the periods indicated. The financial 
information should be rcad in conjunction with the consolidated financial statements and notes thereto 
included elsewhere herein. 

At or for the Fiscal Year Ended March 31, 

(Dollars in thousands) 
2006 2005 2004 2003 2002 

Selected Financial Condition Data: 
Assets 
Total loam 
Securities 
Cash and cash equivalents 
Deposits 
Borrowed funds 
Stockholders' equity 
Nurnbcr of deposit accounts 
Nurnbcr of offices 

Tijtal Assets 
$626,317 

2002 2003 2uu4 zoo5 2006 

Return on Average Equity 

13.78% 

11.4O"h 

9.17% 

7.93% 

$ 660,993 
497,447 
108,286 
22,904 

504,638 
93,792 
48,697 
41,614 

$ 626,377 
426,084 
149,335 
20,420 

455,870 
1 15,299 
45,801 
40,199 

$ 538,830 
356,025 
139,877 
22,774 

375,519 
104,282 
44,645 
38,578 

$ 509.845 
296,896 
165,585 
23,160 

349,066 
108,996 
41,073 
41,220 

$ 450,306 
293,838 
105,464 
34,851 

327,542 
75,651 
36,742 
4 1,200 

8 8 

Total Loans 

2001 2003 2004 2uu5 zoo6 

Efkiency Ratio 
81.77 

78.96 
17.11'3 

68.18 (7.86 

6 5 5 

Total Deposits 
~ 4 5 5 . 8 7 1 ~  

2002 2003 1004 2uu5 2006 

Nm-Perjorniing Assets to Total 
Loans Receivable 



FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS (cont.) 

Selected Operating Data: 
Interest income 
Interest expense 
Net interest incuine 
Provision for loan losses 
Net interest income a h  provision for loan losses 
Noli-intcrcst income 
Non-interest expenses 
Income bcfore income t a m  
Income tax 
Net income 
Diluted earnings per coinmon share 

2006 

$ 32,385 
13.493 
18,892 

At or fur the Fincnl Vcar Ended March 31, 

2005 2004 2003 2102 
(Dullan in thousands, exrcpt per abare dam) 

$ 28,546 $ 26,234 $ 27,390 $ 28,395 
8.700 8.983 12.047 

16,348 
9.758 

18,788 17,534 18,407 

18,892 
5,341 

19,134 
5,099 
1.329 

$ 3.770 
$ 1.47 

18,788 17.534 1 8,407 15,448 
4,075 5.278 3,161 4,485 

18,696 15,480 14,704 14,139 
4. I67 7.332 6,864 5,594 
1.518 2.49F3.013 881 

$ 2.649 $ 4.839 $ 3.831 F 4.713 
$ 1.03 $ 1.X7 $ 1.52 $ 189  

NET lNCOME 

$4,713 $4.839 

$3,831 S3.110 

$2,649 

2002 2003 ZUO4 2005 

Selected Statistical Data: 
Return on average assets (1) 
Return on avcrage equity (2) 
Net interest margin (3) 
hvei-age interest rate spread (4) 
r!fficicncy ratio (5) 
Operating expense to avcragc assets (6) 
Averagc equity to average wxts 
Dividend payout ratio (7) 

EARNINGS PER SHARE 
Fl X'I 

$1.52 $1.41 

51.03 

ZUUZ 2003 2004 2005 2006 I 

At or tor Ihe Fiscal Year Endcd March 31. 
2062nnfi20(142onl2002 

0.60 "/o 
7.93 
2.97 
3.18 

78.96 
3.04 
7.54 
20.63 

0.4.5 % 
5.80 
3.4 I 
3.26 

8 I .77 
3.21 
7.84 

24.64 

0.93 % 
11.40 
3.56 
3.40 

67.86 
2.97 
8.13 
9.86 

Asset Quality Ratios: S 
Non-performing assets to total assets (8) 0.42 Yo 0.16 96 0.39 % 
Noti-performing assets to total lvans receivable (8) 0.55 0.23 0.60 
Allowance for loan losscs to total loans receivable 0.8 I 0.96 1.16 
Allowance for lorn losses to non-pcrhning assets (8) 147.07 410.65 194.30 
Net loan charge-offs (recoveries) to average loans oulstanding 0.02 0.01 0.01 

0.83 9/, 
9.77 
4.26 
4.08 

68.18 
3.18 
8 48 
3.19 

0.36 % 
0.61 
1.40 

230.74 
(0.01) 

1.11 % 
13.78 
4.09 
3.89 

77.89 
3.37 
8.03 
2.55 

0.63 Yo 

0.96 
1.41 

146.23 
0.11 

(1) Nct income divided hy average total asstts. 
(2) Nct incoiiie divided by average total equity. 
(3) Net intcrcst income dividtd by average inttrcst-eaniing assets. 
(4) 'rhc difference between the weighted avcragc yield 011 inttrcst-earning assets and the weighted avcrage cost of intcrcst-bearing liabilitics. 
( 5 )  Operating expenses dividcd by sum of net inkrest income plus noii-interest incomc. 
(6) Non-interest expensc Ics'i real estate owned expenses, divided by average total assets. 
(7) Dividends paid to common stockholders as a pcrceiitage of net income available to ~urniiioii stockholdcw. 
(8) Non ptrfurming assets consist ofnon-accrual lu;ms, loans accruing 90 days or mort past due and rcal estate owned. 
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FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS 

This Annual Report on Form IO-K contains certain “forward looking statements” within the meaning of the Private Securities Litigation 
Reform Act of 1995 which may be identified by the use of such words as “may,” “believe,” “expect,” “anticipate,” “should,” “plan,” 
“estimate,” “predict,” “continue,” and “potential” or the negative of these terms or other comparable terminology. Examples of fonvard- 
looking statements include, but are not limited to, estimates with respect to our financial condition, results of operations and business that 
are subject to various factors which could cause actual results to differ materially from these estimates. These factors include, but are not 
limited to: 

the Company’s success in implementing its new business initiatives, including expanding its product line, adding new 
branch offices and ATM centers and successfully re-building its brand image; 

increases in competitive pressure among financial institutions or non-financial institutions; 

legislative or regulatory changes which may adversely affect the Company’s business; 

technological changes which may be more difficult or expensive than we anticipate; 

changes in interest rates which may reduce net interest margins and net interest income; 

changes in deposit flows, loan demand or real estate values which may adversely affect the Company’s business; 

changes in accounting principles, policies or guidelines which may cause the Company’s condition to be perceived 
differently; 

litigation or other matters before regulatory agencies, whether currently existing or commencing in the future, which may 
delay the occurrence or non-occurrence of events longer than anticipated; 

the ability of the Company to originate and purchase loans with attractive terms and acceptable crcdit quality; 

success in integrating Community Capital Rank into Carver operations; 

the ability of the Company to realize cost efficiencies; and 

general economic conditions, either nationally or locally in some or all areas in which the Company does business, or 
conditions in the securities markets or the banking industry which could affect liquidity in the capital markets, the volume 
of loan origination, deposit flows, real estate values, the levels of non-interest income and the amount of loan losses. 

Any or all of our forward-looking statements in this Annual Report and in any other public statements we make may turn out to be wrong. 
They can be affected by inaccurate assumptions we might make or by known or unknown risks and uncertainties. Consequently, no 
forward-looking statement can be guaranteed. We do not intend to update any of the forward-looking statements after the date of this 
prospectus or to conform these statements to actual events. 

GENERAL DESCRIPTION OF BUSINESS 

Carver Federal Savings Bank, a wholly owned subsidiary of Carver Bancorp, Inc., is the nation’s largest African-American 
operated savings bank in the nation, with $441 million in assets as of March 31, 2006. Headquartered in the heart of the Harlem 
community of New York City, Carver Federal Savings Bank has eight branch offices, five stand-alone 24/7 ATM centers, and over 120 
employees. Carver Federal Savings Bank’s consumer and commercial offerings include an array of deposit and real estate loan products 
that facilitate investing, savings and borrowing by its customers. Carver Federal Savings Bank also offers wealth management products 
through a third party provider. 

Carver Bancorp, Inc. 

Carver Bancorp, Inc., a Delaware corporation (on a stand-alone basis, the “Holding Company” or “Registrant”), is the holding 
company for Carver Federal Savings Bank, a federally chartered savings bank, and its subsidiaries (collectively, the “Bank” or “Carver 
Federal”), Carver Statutory Trust I (the “Trust”) and Alhambra Holding Corporation, a Delaware corporation (“Alhambra”). The Trust, 
which was formed in September 2003, exists for the sole purpose of issuing trust preferred debt securities and investing the proceeds in 
an equivalent amount of subordinated debentures of the Holding Company. The Holding Company formed Alhambra to hold the Holding 
Company’s investment in a commercial office building that was subsequently sold in March 2000. Alhambra is currently inactive. 
Collectively, the Holding Company, the Bank and the Holding Company’s other direct and indirect subsidiaries are referred to herein as 
the “Company” or “Carver.” 

On October 24, 1994, Carver Federal converted from mutual to stock form and issued 2,3 14,275 shares of its common stock at a 
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price of $10 per share. On October 17, 1996, the Bank completed its reorganization into a holding company structure (the 
“Reorganization”) and became a wholly owned subsidiary of the Holding Company. Pursuant to an Agrecment and Plan of 
Reorganization, dated May 21, 1996, cach share of the Rank’s outstanding common stock was exchanged for one share of common stock 
o f  the Holding Company. On January 1 I ,  2000, the Holding Company sold, pursuant to a Securities Purchase Agreement, dated January 
11, 2000, in a private placement 40,000 shares of Series A Convertible Preferrcd Stock (the “Series A Preferred Stock”) to Morgan 
Stanley & Co. Incorporated (“MSDW”) and 60,000 Shares of Series B Convertible Preferred Stock (the ‘‘Series B Preferred Stock”) to 
Provender Opportunities Fund L.P. (“Provender”). On June 1, 2004, Provendcr sold all 60,000 of its Series B Preferred Stock to Keefe 
Bruyette & Woods, Inc (“KBW”). On October 15, 2004, both MSDW and KBW elected to convert their Preferred Shares into shares of 
thc Holding Company’s common stock, thus an additional 208,333 shares of coininon stock were issued to thesc parties. 

On April 6. 2006, the Company entered into a definitive merger agreement to acquire Community Capital Rank (“CCB” or 
“Community Capital”), a Brooklyn-based community bank with approximately $1 62 million in assets, in a cash transaction valued at 
$1 1.1 million, or $40.00 per Community Capital share. The agreement has been approved by the Boards of Directors of both companies 
and, on June 28, 2006, was also approved by the stockholders of Community Capital. The transaction is subject to and is awaiting 
regulatory approval and is expected to close by September 30, 2006. The acquisition of CCR and its award-winning small business 
lending platform will expand the Company’s ability to capitalize on substantial growth, especially in the small business market. 

The Holding Company conducts business as a unitary savings and loan holding company, and the principal business of the 
Holding Company consists of the operation of its wholly owned subsidiary, the Bank. The Holding Company’s cxccutive offices are 
located at the home office of the Bank at 75 West 125th Street, New York, New York 10027. The Holding Company’s telephone number 
is (7 18) 230-2900. 

Carver Federal Savings Bank 

Carver Federal was chartered in 1948 and began operations in 1949 as Carver Federal Savings and Loan Association, a federally 
chartered mutual savings and loan association, at which time it obtained federal deposit insurance and becamc a member of the Federal 
Home Loan Bank of New York (the “FHLB-NY”). Carver Federal convcrtcd to a federal savings bank in 1986 and changed its name at 
that time to Carver Federal Savings Bank. 

Carver Federal was founded as an African-American operated institution to provide residents of under-served communities with 
the ability to invest their savings and obtain credit. Carver Federal’s principal business consists of attracting deposit accounts through its 
eight branch offices and investing those funds in mortgage loans and other investments permitted to federal savings banks. Based on its 
asset size as of March 31, 2006, Carver Federal is the largest African-American operated financial institution in the 1Jnited States. 

On March 8, 1995, Carver Federal formed CFSB Realty Corp. as a wholly owned subsidiary to hold real estate acquired through 
foreclosure pending eventual disposition. At March 3 1, 2006, this subsidiary had $21 8,000 in total capital and a minimal net operating 
loss. At March 3 1, 2006 no foreclosed real estate was held by the Company, however as a result of a property tax redemption, the Rank, 
through its subsidiary Carver Realty Corp., took fee ownership of a vacant tract of land in Bayshore, NY. See Note 1 of Notes to 
Consolidated Financial Statements. Carver Federal also owns CFSB Credit Corp., an inactive subsidiary originally formed to undertake 
the Bank’s credit card issuances. During the fourth quarter of the fiscal year ended March 31, 2003 (“fiscal 2003”), Carver Federal 
formed Carver Asset Corporation, a wholly owned subsidiary which qualifies as a real estate investment trust (“REIT”) pursuant to the 
Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended. ‘This subsidiary may, among other things, bc utilized by Carver Federal to raise capital in the 
future. As of March 3 1, 2006 Carver Asset Corporation owned mortgage loans valued at approximately $ 1  3 1 million. On August 18, 
2005 Carver Fedcral formed Carver Community Development Corp. (“CCDC”), a wholly owned community development entity whose 
purpose is to make qualified business loans in low-income communities. As of March 31, 2006, CCDC had no assets or results from 
operations. 

Carver Federal’s current operating strategy consists primarily of: (1) the origination and purchase of one- to four-family 
residential, commercial, construction and multifamily real estate loans in its primary market area; (2) investing funds not utilized for loan 
originations or purchases in the purchase of United States government agency securities and mortgage-backed securities; (3) developing a 
commercial line of business through the pending acquisition of CCB in the fiscal year ended March 31, 2007 (“fiscal 2007”); (4) 
generating fee income by attracting and retaining core deposit accounts, and expanding its ATM network and sale of wealth management 
products; and (5) continuing to monitor and control its expenses by efficiently utilizing personnel, branch facilities and alternative 
delivery channels (telephone banking, online banking, and ATMs) to service its customers. The business is not operated in such a way 
that would require segment reporting. 

Carver Federal’s primary market area for deposits consists of the areas currently served by its eight branch offices with an 
anticipation of two additional offices with the successful acquisition of CCB. Carver Federal considers its primary lending market to 
include Bronx, Kings, New York and Queens counties, together comprising New York City, and lower Westchester County, New York. 
See “Item 2--Properties.” 

Although Carver Federal’s branch offices are located in areas that were historically underserved by other financial institutions, 
Carver Federal is facing increasing competition for deposits and residential mortgage lending in its immediate market areas. Management 
believes that this competition has become more intense as a result of an increased examination emphasis by federal banking regulators on 
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financial institutions’ fulfillment of their responsibilities under the Community Reinvestment Act (“CRA”) and the improving economic 
conditions in its market area. The Bank’s competition for loans comes principally from mortgage banking companies, commercial banks, 
savings banks and savings and loan associations. The Bank’s most direct competition for deposits comes from commercial banks, savings 
banks, savings and loan associations and credit unions. Competition for deposits also comes from money market mutual funds and other 
corporate and government securities funds as well as from other financial intermediaries such as brokerage firms and insurance 
companies. Many of Carver Federal’s competitors have substantially greater resources than Carver Federal and offer a wider array of 
financial services and products than Carver Federal. At times, these larger financial institutions may offer below market interest rates on 
mortgage loans and above market interest rates for deposits. These pricing concessions combined with competitors’ larger presence in the 
New York market add to the challenges Carver Federal faces in expanding its current market share and growing its near term profitability. 
The Bank believes that it can compete with these institutions by offering a competitive range of products and services through 
personalized service and community involvement and by growing the customer base and product suite with the pending acquisition of 
CCB. 

Carver continues to evaluate acquisition opportunities as part of its strategic objective for long term growth and may acquire 
directly or indirectly through Carver Federal. 

As of June 15, 2006, Carver Federal had 126 full-time equivalent employees, none of whom was represented by a collective 
bargaining agreemcnt. The Bank considers its employee relations to be satisfactory. 

Available Information 

The Company makes available on or through its internet website, http://www.carverbank.com, its Annual Reports on Form 
10-K, Quarterly Reports on Form 1 0-Q, Current Reports on Form 8-K, and all amendments to those reports filed or furnished pursuant to 
Section 13(a) or 15(dj of the Exchange Act. Such reports are free of charge and are available as soon as reasonably practicable after the 
Company electronically files such material with, or furnishes it to, the Securities and Exchange Commission (‘‘SEC”). The public may 
read and copy any materials the Company files with the SEC at the SEC’s Public Reference Room at 450 Fifth Street, N W, Washington, 
DC, 20549. Information may be obtained on the operation of the Public Reference Room by calling the SEC at I-800-SEC-0330. The 
SEC maintains an internct site that contains reports, proxy and information statements and other information regarding issuers that file 
electronically with the SEC, including the Company, at http://www.sec.gov. 

In addition, certain other basic corporate documents, including our Corporate Governance Principles, Code of Ethics, Code of 
Ethics for Senior Financial Officers and the charters of our Finance and Audit Committee, Compensation Committee and 
NominatingiCorporate Governance Committee and the date of our annual meeting are posted on our website. Printed copies o f  these 
documents are also available free of charge to any stockholder who requests them. Stockholders seeking additional information should 
contact the Corporate Secretary’s office by mail at 75 West 125th Street, New York, N Y  10027 or by e-mail at 
corporatesecretary@carvcrbank.com. 

Asset Quality 

General. One of the Bank’s key operating objectives continues to be to maintain a high level of asset quality. Through a variety 
of strategies, including, but not limited to, monitoring loan delinquencies and borrower workout arrangements, the Bank has been 
proactive in addressing problem and non-performing assets which, in turn, has helped to build the strength of the Bank’s financial 
condition. Such strategies, as well as the Bank’s concentration on one- to four-family, commercial mortgage lending (which includes 
multifamily and non-residential real estate loans) and construction lending, the maintenance of sound credit standards for new loan 
originations and a strong real estate market, have resulted in the Rank maintaining a low level of non-performing assets. 

The underlying credit quality of the Bank’s loan portfolio i s  dependent primarily on each borrower’s ability to continue to make 
required loan payments and, in the event a borrower is unable to continue to do so, the value of the collateral should be adequate to secure 
the loan. A borrower’s ability to pay typically is dependent primarily on employment and other sources of income, which, in turn, is 
impacted by general economic conditions, although other factors, such as unanticipated expenditures or changes in the financial markets, 
may also impact the borrower’s ability to pay. Collateral values, particularly real estate values, are also impacted by a variety of factors, 
including general economic conditions, demographics, maintenance and collection or foreclosure delays. 

Non-performing Assets. When a borrower fails to make a payment on a mortgage loan, immediate steps are taken by Carver 
Federal and its sub-servicers to have the delinquency cured and the loan restored to current status. With respect to mortgage loans, once 
the payment grace period has expired ( in  most instances 15 days after the due date), a late notice is mailed to the borrower within two 
business days and a late charge is imposed if applicable. If payment is not promptly received, the borrower is contacted by telephone and 
efforts are made to formulate an affirmative plan to cure the delinquency. Additional calls are made by the 20th and 25th day of the 
delinquency. If a mortgage loan becomes 30 days delinquent, a letter is mailed to the borrower requesting payment by a specified date. If 
a mortgage loan becomes 60 days delinquent, Carver Federal seeks to make personal contact with the borrower and also has the property 
inspected. If a mortgage becomes 90 days delinquent, a letter is sent to the borrower demanding payment by a certain date and indicating 
that a foreclosure suit will be filed if the deadline is not met. If payment is still not made, the Bank may pursue foreclosure or other 
appropriate action. 

http://www.carverbank.com
http://www.sec.gov
mailto:corporatesecretary@carvcrbank.com


When a borrower fails to make a payment on a consumer loan, steps are taken by Carver Federal’s loan servicing department to 
have the delinquency cured and the loan restored to current status. Once the payment gracc period has expired (15 days after the due 
date), a late notice is mailed to the borrower immediately and a late charge is imposed if applicable. If payment is not promptly receivcd, 
the borrower is contacted by telephone, and efforts arc made to formulate an affirmative plan to cure the delinquency. If  a consumer loan 
becomes 30 days delinquent, a letter is mailed to the borrower requesting payment by a specified date. If the loan becomes 60 days 
delinquent, the account is given to an independent collection agency to follow up with the collection of the account. If the loan becomes 
90 days delinquent, a final warning letter is sent to the borrower and any co-borrower. If the loan remains delinquent, it is reviewed for 
charge-off. The Bank’s collection efforts generally continue after the loan is charged off. 

The following table sets forth information with respect to Carver Federal’s non-performing assets at the dates indicated. 

At March 31, 
2006 2005 2004 2003 2002 

(Dollars in thousands) 
Loans accountzd for on a non-accrual basis (I): 

Real estate: 
One- to four-family $1,098 $ 149 $ 558 $ 1,113 
Multifamily 763 167 1,532 -- 
Non-residential -_ 665 -- 639 
Construction 865 -- 23 23 
Consumer and business 4 17 10 27 

Total non-accrual loans 2,730 998 2.123 1,802 

$ 756 
253 

1,754 
23 
37 

2,823 

Accruing loans contractually past due 90 days 
or more -- -- -- .._ - 

Total of non-accrual and accruing 90- 
day past due loans $2,730 $998 $2,123 $ 1.802 

Other non-performing assets (2): 

-- 

$2,823 

Real estate: 
Land 
Total other non-performing assets 
Total non-performing assets (3) 

Non-performing loans to totid loans 
Non-performing assets to total assets 

0.55% 0.23% 0.60% 0.61% 0.96% 
0.42% 0.16% 0.39% 0.36% 0.63% 

(1) Non-accrual status dcnotes any loan where the delinquency exceeds 90 days past due and in the opinion of management the collection of additional interest 
is doubtful. Payments received on a non-accrual loan are either applied to thc outstanding principal balance or recorded as interest income, depending on 
assessment of the ability to collect on the loan. During the fiscal year ended March 3 I ,  2006, gross interest income of $79,000 would have becn recorded on 
non-accrual loans had thcy been current throughout the year. 

(2) Other non-performing assets generally represent property acquired by the Bank in settlement of loans (i.e., through foreclosure, repossession or as an in- 
substance foreclosure). Although the Bank had no foreclosed real estatc, as a result of a propcrty tax redemption, the Bank took fee ownership of a vacant 
tract of land in Bayshore, NY. These assets arc recordcd at the lower of their fair value o r  the cost to acquire. 

(3) Total non-performing assets consist of non-accrual loans, accruing loans 90 days or more past due and property acquired in settlement of loans. 

At March 3 1, 2006, total non-performing assets increased by $1.8 million to $2.8 million compared to $998,000 at March 3 I ,  
2005. At March 3 1,2006 other non-performing assets of $26,000 relates to one parcel of land that Carver Federal acquired as a result of a 
property tax redemption. The increase in total non-performing assets for fiscal 2006 primarily reflects three additional one-to four-family 
residential real estate loans. Increases in non-performing asset levels are consistent with the growth the Bank experienced in its loan 
portfolio during the fiscal year. Management believes the Bank’s current level of non-performing assets to total loans remains within the 
range of its peers. 

There were no accruing loans contractually past due 90 days or more at March 3 1, 2006 and March 3 1, 2005, reflecting the 
continued practice adopted by the Bank during the fiscal year ended March 3 1, 2000 to either write off or place on non-accrual status all 
loans contractually past due 90 days or more. 

Asset C‘lassificution and Alloivancesfor Losses. Federal regulations and the Bank’s policies require the classification of assets 
on the basis of quality on a quarterly basis. An asset is classified as “substandard” if it is determined to be inadequately protected by the 
current net worth and paying capacity of the obligor or the current value of the collateral pledged, if any. An asset is  classified as 
“doubtful” if full collection is highly questionable or improbable. An asset is classified as ‘‘loss’’ if it is considered un-collectible, even if 
a partial recovery could be expected in the future. The regulations also provide for a “special mention” designation, described as assets 
that do not currently expose a savings institution to a sufficient degree of risk to warrant classification but do possess credit deficiencies 
or potential weaknesses deserving management’s close attention. Assets classified as substandard or doubtful require a savings institution 
to establish general allowances for loan losses. If an asset or portion thereof is classified as a loss, a savings institution must either 
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establish specific allowances for loan losses in the amount of the portion of the asset classified loss or charge off such amount. Federal 
examiners may disagree with a savings institution’s classifications. If a savings institution does not agree with an examiner’s 
classification of an asset, it may appeal this determination to the OTS Regional Director. 

At March 31, 2006, Carver Federal had $2.2 million of loans classified as substandard which represented 0.3% of the Bank‘s 
total assets. As of March 31, 2005 the Bank had $1.0 million as loans classified as substandard, representing 0.2% of the Bank’s total 
assets. There were no loans classified as doubtful or loss at March 3 1 ,  2006 and March 3 1, 2005. 

The OTS, in conjunction with the other federal banking agencies, has adopted an interagency policy statement on the allowance 
for loan losses and lease losses. The policy statement provides guidance for financial institutions on both the responsibilities of 
management for the assessment and establishment of adequate allowances and guidance for banking agency examiners to use in 
determining the adequacy of general valuation guidelines. Generally, the policy statement recommends that institutions have effective 
systems and controls to identify, monitor and address asset quality problems, that management analyze all significant factors that affect 
the ability to collect the portfolio in a reasonable manner and that management establish acceptable allowance evaluation processes that 
meet the objectives set forth in the policy statement. Although management believes that adequate specific and general loan loss 
allowances have been established, actual losses are dependent upon future events and, as such, further additions to the level of specific 
and general loan loss allowances may become necessary. Federal examiners may disagree with the savings institution as to the 
appropriate level of the institution’s allowance for loan losses. While management believes Carver Federal has established its existing 
loss allowances in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, there can be no assurance that regulators, in reviewing 
Carver Federal’s assets, will not require Carver Federal to increase its loss allowance, thereby negatively affecting Carver Federal’s 
reported financial condition and results of operations. 

Carver Federal’s methodology for establishing the allowance for loan losses takes into consideration probable losses that have 
been identified in connection with specific loans as well as losses that have not been identified but can be expected to occur. Further, 
management reviews the ratio of allowances to total loans (including projected growth) and recommends adjustments to the level of 
allowances accordingly. The Internal Asset Review Committee conducts reviews of the Bank’s loans on at least a quarterly basis and 
evaluates the need to establish general and specific allowances on the basis of this review. In addition, management actively monitors 
Carver Federal’s asset quality and charges off loans and properties acquired in settlement of loans against the allowances for losses on 
loans and such properties when appropriate and provides specific loss reserves when necessary. Although management believes it uses 
the best information available to make determinations with respect to the allowances for losses, future adjustments may be necessary if 
economic conditions differ substantially from the economic conditions in the assumptions used in making the initial determinations. 

Additionally, the Internal Asset Review Committee reviews Carver Federal’s assets on a quarterly basis to determine whether 
any assets require classification or re-classification. The Bank has a centralized loan servicing structure that relies upon outside servicers, 
each of which generates a monthly report of delinquent loans. The Board has designated the Internal Asset Review Committee to perform 
quarterly reviews of the Bank’s asset quality, and their report is submitted to the Board for review. The Asset Liability and Interest Rate 
Risk Committee of the Board establishes policy relating to internal classification of loans and also provides input to the Internal Asset 
Review Committee in its review of classified assets. In originating loans, Carver Federal recognizes that credit losses will occur and that 
the risk of loss will vary with, among other things, the type of loan being made, the creditworthiness of the borrower over the tenn of the 
loan, general economic conditions and, in the case of a secured loan, the quality of the security for the loan. It is management’s policy to 
maintain a general allowance for loan losses based on, among other things, regular reviews of delinquencies and loan portfolio quality, 
character and size, the Bank’s and the industryl’s historical and projected loss experience and current and forecasted economic conditions. 
In addition, considerable uncertainty exists as to the future improvement or deterioration of the real estate markets in various states, or of 
their ultimate impact on Carver Federal as a result of its purchased loans in such states. See “-Lending Activities-Loan Purchases and 
Originations.” Carver Federal increases its allowancc for loan losses by charging provisions for possible losses against the Bank’s 
income. General allowances are established by the Board on at least a quarterly basis based on an assessment of risk in the Bank’s loans, 
taking into consideration the composition and quality of the portfolio, delinquency trends, current charge-off and loss experience, the 
state of the real estate market and economic conditions generally. Specific allowances are provided for individual loans, or portions of 
loans, when ultimate collection is considered improbable by management based on the current payment status of the loan and the fair 
value or net realirable value of the security for the loan. 

At the date of foreclosure or other repossession or at the date the Bank determines a property is an impaired property, the Bank 
transfers the property to real estate acquired in settlement of loans at the lower of cost or fair value, less estimated selling costs. Fair value 
is defined as the amount in cash or cash-equivalent value of other consideration that a real estate parcel would yield in a current sale 
between a willing buyer and a willing seller. Any amount of cost in excess of fair value is charged-off against the allowance for loan 
losses. Carver Federal records an allowance for estimated selling costs of the property immediately after foreclosure. Subsequent to 
acquisition, management periodically evaluates the property and an allowance is established if the estimated fair value of the property, 
less estimated costs to sell, declines. If, upon ultimate disposition of the property, net sales proceeds exceed the net carrying value of the 
property, a gain on sale of real estate is recorded. At March 3 I ,  2006, the Bank had no foreclosed real estate, however, as a result of a 
property tax redemption, the Bank took fee ownership of a vacant tract of land in Bayshore, NY. See Note 1 of Notes to Consolidated 
Financial Statements. 

The following table sets forth an analysis of Carver Federal’s allowance for loan losses for the periods indicated. 



Balance at beginning of year 
Loans charged-off: 
Real Estatc: 
Onc- to four-family 
Non-residcntial 

Consumer and business 
Total Charge-offs 

Recoveries: 
One- to four-family 
Non-residential 
Consumer and business 
Total Rccoveries 

Nct loans charged-off (recovered) 
Provision for losses 

Balance at end of year 

Ratio of net charge-offs to avcrage loans outstanding 
Ratio of allowance t o  total loans 
Ratio of allowance to non-performing assets (1) 

Year Ended March 31, 
2006 2005 2004 2003 2002 

(Dollars in thousands) 

$ 4,097 $ 4,125 $ 4,158 $ 4,128 % 3,551 

17 8 6 2 
55 

IO0 65 264 226 500 
I I7 73 325 228 500 

5 107 3 
10 

30 45 I75 258 174 
35 45 292 258 177 
82 28 33 (30) 323 

son r II 

$ 4,015 $ 4,097 $ 4,125 $ 4,158 $ 4,128 

0.02% 0.01% 0.01% -0.0 I Yo 0.1 I %  

146.23% 
0.81% 0.96% 1.16% I .40% 1.41% 

194.30% 230.74% 4 10.65% 147.07% 

(1) Non-performing assets consist of non-accrual loans, accruing loans 90 days or more pas1 due and property acquircd in settlement of loans 

The following table allocates the allowance for loan losses by asset category at the dates indicated. The allocation of the 
allowance to each category is not necessarily indicative of future losses and does not restrict the use of the allowance to absorb losses in 
any category. 

2002 

Loans: 
Real Estate 

One- to four-family 
Multifamily 
Non-residential 
Construction 

Consumer and 
business 

Unallocated 
Total Allowance for 

loan losses 

At March 31, 
2006 2005 2004 2003 

% of % of Yo of % of 
Loans lo Loans In Loans In Loans In 

Each Each Each Each 
Category Category Category Category 
to Total to Total to Total to Total 
Gross Gross Gross Gross 

Amount Loans Amount Loans Amount Loans Amount Loans 
(dollars in thousands) 

$ 565 28.91% $ 528 36.69% $ 355 27.80% $ 298 24.20% 
1,084 21.11% 898 23.99% 1,240 3 3.88% 656 44.45% 

960 31.05% 1,129 27.49% 853 28.92% 1,967 26.14% 
3 03 18.64% 212 11.43% 158 7.71% I70 3.89% 
442 0.29% 554 0.40% 487 1.69% 344 0.72% 

723 N/A 661 NIA 776 1.032- N/A NIA 

% of 
Loans In 

Each 
Category 
to Total 
Gross 

Amount Loans 

429 41.84% 

729 13.66% 
76 3.32% 

377 0.79% 

1,468 40.39% 

1.049 NIA 

L a 2 3  Ln-% 



MARKET FOR REGISTRANT’S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS AND ISSUER PURCHASES 
OF EQUITY SECURITIES. 

The Holding Company’s common stock is listed on the American Stock Exchange under the symbol “CNY.” As of June 15, 
2006, there were 2,502,247 shares of the common stock outstanding, held by approximately 1,079 stockholders of record. The following 
table shows the high and low per share sales prices of the common stock and the dividends declared for the quarters indicated. 

High Low Dividend High LOW Dividend 

Fiscal Year 2006 Fiscal Year 2005 

Junc 30,2005 $18.75 $16.90 $0.08 June 30,2004 $23.95 $19.15 $0.05 
’ Septcmbcr 30,2005 $17.35 $16.30 $0.08 Scptemher 30, 2004 $20.45 $17.95 $0.07 

December 3 1. 2005 $16.70 $15.00 $0.08 December 3 1,2004 $20.82 $18.55 $0.07 
March 3 1, 2006 $17.32 $15.00 $0.08 March 31, 2005 $20.07 $18.38 $0.07 

The Board initially established the payment of a quarterly dividend to common shareholders on January 9, 2003. Subsequently, 
each quarter the Board meets to decide on the amount per share to be declared. On May 9, 2006, the Holding Company’s Board of 
Directors declared a $0.08 cash dividend to shareholders for the fourth quarter of fiscal 2006, this represents a $0.03 per share increase 
from the $0.05 paid at inception of the Board establishing payment of a quarterly dividend. 

Under OTS regulations, the Bank will not be permitted to pay dividends to the Holding Company on its capital stock if its 
regulatory capital would be reduced below applicable regulatory capital requirements or if its stockholders’ equity would be reduced 
below the amount required to be maintained for the liquidation account, which was established in connection with the Bank’s conversion 
to stock form. The OTS capital distribution regulations applicable to savings institutions (such as the Bank) that meet their regulatory 
capital requirements permit, after not less than 30 days prior notice to the OTS, capital distributions during a calendar year that do not 
exceed the Bank’s net income for that year plus its retained net income for the prior two years. For information concerning the Bank’s 
liquidation account, see Note I 1  of the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements. 

Unlike the Bank, the Holding Company is not subject to OTS regulatory restrictions on the payment of dividends to its 
stockholders, although the source of such dividends will be dependent, in part, upon capital distributions from the Bank. The Holding 
Company is sub.ject to the requirements of Delaware law, which generally limit dividends to an amount equal to the excess of the net 
assets of the Company (the amount by which total assets exceed total liabilities) over its statutory capital, or if there is no such excess, to 
its net profits for the current and/or immediately preceding fiscal year. 

On August 6 ,  2002 the Holding Company announced a stock repurchase program to repurchase up to 231,635 shares of its 
outstanding common stock. To date, 94,474 shares of its common stock have been repurchased in open market transactions at an average 
price of $16.90 per share. The Holding Company intends to use repurchased shares to fund its stock-based benefit and Compensation 
plans and for any other purpose the Board deems advisable in compliance with applicable law. The following table details purchases the 
Holding Company made of its common stock during the fourth quarter of fiscal 2006. 

Total Number o f  Average Price 
Shares Purchased Paid per Share 

January 1,2006 through January 300 15.44 
31,2006 
February 1,2006 through 
February 28,2006 
March 1,2006 through March 
3 1,2006 

I5 44 

Total Number of Maximum Number 
Shares Purchased as of Shares that May 

part of Publicly Yet Be Purchased 
Announced Plans Under the Plans 

300 140,36 I 

140,361 

140,361 

Carver has three equity compensation plans: (1) The Management Recognition Plan (“MRP”) which provides for automatic 
grants of restricted stock to certain employees as of the date the plan became effective in June of 1995. Additionally, the MRP makes 
provision for added discretionary grants of restricted stock to those employees so selected by the Compensation Committee of the Board 
who administers the plan. (2) The Incentive Compensation Plan (“TCP”) provides for grants of cash bonuses, restricted stock and stock 
options to the employees selected by the Compensation Committee. (3) The Option Plan provides for automatic option grants to certain 
employees as of the date the plan became effective in June of 1995, and like the MRP, also makes provision for added discretionary 
option grants to those employees so selected by the Compensation Committee. Additional information regarding Carver’s equity 
compensation plans is incorporated by reference from the section entitled “Securities Authorized for Issuance Under Equity 
Compensation Plans” in the Proxy Statement. 
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SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA 

Set forth below are our selected consolidated financial and other data. This financial data is derived in part from, and should be 
read in conjunction with our consolidated financial statements and related notes. 

At or for the Fiscal Year Ended March 31, 
2006 2005 2004 2003 2002 

(Dollars in thousands, except per share data) 
Selected Financial Condition Data: 
Assets 
Loans, net 
Securities 
Cash and cash equivalents 
Deposits 
Borrowed funds 
Long-term Obligations 
Stockholders’ equity 
Number of deposit accounts 
Number of offices 

Operating Data: 
Interest income 
Interest expense 
Net interest income 
Provision for loan losses 

Non-interest income 
Non-interest expenses 
Income before income taxes 
Income taxes 
Net income 
Basic earnings per common share 
Diluted earnings per common share 
Cash dividends per common share 

Net interest income after provision for loan losses 

Selected Statistical Data: 
Return on average assets ( I  j 
Return on average equity (2) 
Nct intcrest margin (3)  
Average interest rate spread (4) 
Efficiency ratio (5) 
Operating expense to average assets (6) 
Average equity to average assets 
Common Dividend payout ratio (7) 

Asset Quality Ratios: 
Non-performing assets to total assets (8) 
Non-performing assets to total loans receivable (8) 
Allowance for loan losses to total loans receivable 

$ 660,993 
493,432 
108,286 
22,904 

504,638 
93,792 
48,153 
48,697 
41,614 

8 

$ 32,385 
13,493 
18,892 

18,892 
5,341 

19,134 
5,099 
1,329 

-- 

- u 
LUl 
% . -ox  

0.60% 
7.93 
2.97 
3.18 

78.96 
3.04 
7.54 

20.63 

0.42% 
0.55 
0.8 I 

$ 626,377 
42 1,987 
149,335 
20,420 

455,870 
I 15,299 
84,129 
45,801 
40,199 

8 

$ 28,546 
9.758 

I 8,788 
_ _  

$ 538,830 
351,900 
139,877 
22,774 

375,519 
104,282 
80,506 
44,645 
38,578 

6 

$ 26,234 
8.700 

17,534 

18,788 
4,075 

18,696 
4,167 
1,518 

L. 2,649 
L-.1.06 
LJB 
~. w 

0.45% 
5.80 
3.41 
3.26 

8 1.77 
3.21 
7.84 

24.64 

0.16% 
0.23 
0.96 

17,534 
5,278 

15,480 
7,332 
2,493 

S - 2 . 0 3  
$-. . 1.87 

0.93% 
11.40 
3.56 
3.40 

67.86 
2.97 
8.13 
0.86 

0.39% 
0.60 
1.16 

$ 509,845 
292,738 
165,585 
23,160 

349,066 
108,996 
91,762 
4 1,073 
4 1,220 

5 

$ 27,390 
8,983 

18,407 

18,407 
3,161 

14,704 
6,864 
3.033 

-- 

u 
$ - IS2 u 

0.83% 
9.77 
4.26 
4.08 

68.18 
3.18 
8.48 
3.19 

0.36% 
0.61 
1.40 

$ 450,306 
289,710 
105,464 
34,85 1 

327,542 
75,65 1 
60,749 
36,742 
4 1,200 

5 

$ 28,395 
12,047 
16,348 

900 
15,448 
4,485 

14,339 
5,594 

88 1 
LdiZL! u u 
L 0.05 

1.11% 
13.78 
4.09 
3.89 

77.89 
3.37 
8.03 
2.55 

0.63% 
0.96 
1.41 

(1)  Net income divided by average total assets 
(2) Net income dividcd by average total equity 
(3) Net interest income divided by average interest-earning assets. 
(4) The difference betwccn the weighted average yield on interest-earning asscts and the weighted average cost of interest-bearing liabilities. 
(5) Non-interest expensc (other than real estate owned expenses) divided by the sum of nct interest income and non-interest income (other than 

net security gains and losscs and other non-recurring income). 
(6) Non-interest expcnse less real estate owned expenses, divided by average total assets. 
(7) Dividends paid to common stockholders as a percentage of net income available to common stockholders. 
(8) Non-performing assets consist of non-accrual loans, loans accruing 90 days or more past due, and property acquired in settlement of loans. 
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MANAGEMENT’S DlSCUSSION AND ANALYSlS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPEKATIONS. 

The following discussion and analysis should be read in conjunction with our Consolidated Financial Statements and Notes to 
Consolidated Financial Statements presented elsewhere in this report. The Company’s results of operations are significantly affected by 
general economic and competitive conditions, particularly changes in market interest rates, government policics, changes in accounting 
standards and actions of regulatory agencies. 

Executive Summary 

Carver Rancorp, Inc., is a bank holding company organized under the laws of the state of Delaware and registered as a “bank 
holding company” under the Bank Holding Company Act of 1956, as amended. Carver is committed to providing superior customer 
service while offering a range of banking products and financial services to our retail and commercial customers. The Holding 
Company’s primary subsidiary is Carver Federal Savings Bank, which operates from eight branch offices in the New York City boroughs 
of Manhattan, Brooklyn and Queens. 

Consistent with the thrift industry, Carver Federal’s net income is dependent primarily on net interest income, which is the 
difference between interest income earned on its loan, investment and mortgage-backed securities portfolios and the interest paid on i ts  
interest-bearing liabilities, such as deposits and borrowings. In addition, net income is affected by the level of provision for loan losses, as 
well as non-interest income and operating expenses. The interest rate climate in 2006 was a challenging onc for the industry and therefore 
Carver, as net interest margin declined following interest rate policy by the Federal Reserve over the last two years, which had the effect 
of substantially reducing the margin between earning assets and liabilities. Carver’s core strategy continues to emphasize increasing 
assets, namely commercial real estate loans, and liabilities, primarily core deposits, sourced through our branch offices. In addition, the 
company is aggressively working to reduce costs, to improve its efficiency ratio, following investments in new branch offices and ATM 
locations, to increase the Bank’s presence in its core marketplace. 

Merger with Community Capital Bank 

In addition to these and other steps to grow organically, Carver is actively pursuing acquisition opportunities to expand its 
presence in markets consistent with its urban niche, which are designed to increase assets and/or fee income. As a result, on April 5, 2006, 
the Bank entered into a definitive agreement to acquire Community Capital Bank (“CCB”), a leader in providing loans to small 
businesses in New York City’s urban marketplace, in a cash transaction valued at approximately $ 1  1.1 million. The acquisition was 
approved by CCB shareholders on June 28,2006 and is expected to close by September 30,2006, subject to customary closing conditions 
including regulatory approvals. 

By providing Carver with a commercial banking platform, the transaction with CCB will better position the Bank to capitalize 
on one of the fastest growing and affluent urban consumer and small business markets in the country. Small business lending, which is 
typically a higher margin lending platform than real estate lending, will enable Carver to increase core deposits and loan balances, thereby 
increasing net interest margin and fee income. Efficiencies are also expected from an in-market merger of an institution with two branch 
ofices in Brooklyn, New York and approximately $162 million in assets. 

Fiscal 2006 

Throughout fiscal 2006 the interest rate environment continued to negatively impact the Bank’s net interest margin. To stem 
margin loss, the Bank successfully implemented a strategy to increase assets when accretive while replacing securities with higher 
yielding mortgage loans. Additionally, higher costing borrowings were replaced with lower costing deposits. The growth in assets and 
deposits followed investments in new branch and ATM locations, new product offerings, and marketing efforts. However, these 
investments and others increased the Bank’s operating expenses. With diligent cost cutting efforts and outsourcing strategies the growth 
in expenses was limited and resulted in modest improvements to the Bank’s efficiency ratio. 

In fiscal 2006, the Bank experienced strong growth in its core business with increases in net loans receivable and deposits, 
compared to March 31, 2005. During fiscal 2006, the national and local real estate markets remained strong and continued to support 
Carver’s lending abilities increasing the loan portfolio despite the fact that loan repayments remained high, at fiscal 2005 levels. Deposits 
rose through growth in our checking, money market and certificate of deposit accounts. Both the securities and borrowings portfolios 
were reduced, consistent with our strategy to use normal cash flows from the repayment of mortgage-backed securities as well as the 
increase in deposits to fund higher yielding loans and repay borrowings. 

The FOMC raised the federal funds rate eight times resulting in an increase of 200 basis points during the fiscal year. While 
short term U.S. treasury yields have risen, yields on the longer end of the treasury yield curve have not risen to the same degree as short 
term yields resulting in a significant flattening of the U.S. Treasury yield curve. Additionally, there was interest rate volatility within 
individual quarters, which resulted in volatility in cash flows and refinance activity. As a result of this rate environment and despite the 
growth in our balance sheet, Carver’s net interest income remained relatively flat while net interest margin declined year over year. 

As previously noted, fiscal 2006 reflected strong growth in the Bank’s loan portfolio while maintaining solid asset quality. As a 
result, the Company did not provide for additional loan loss reserves as it considers the current allowance for loan losses to be adequate. 
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The Bank’s strategy to enhance fee income from operations has resulted in year over year increases in depository fees and 
charges, primarily ATM fecs, debit card income and commissions from the sale of investments and insurance. In addition, the Bank 
benefited from improvements in loan fees and service charges, primarily loan prepayment penalty income. 

Net income for fiscal 2006 was impacted by increased expenses resulting from the full year effcct of expanding the Bank’s 
franchise in fiscal 2005. During fiscal 2005, the Bank successfully opened two full service state-of-the-art branch offices, one in Brooklyn 
and the other in Harlem. Additionally, the Bank opened two 24/7 ATM banking centers in Harlem and Brooklyn in fiscal 2005 and stand 
alone ATMs in Brooklyn in fiscal 2006. These investments increased operating expenses substantially. During fiscal 2006, in an effort to 
control expenses, Carver implemented company-wide cost cutting initiatives including the outsourcing of several technology functions as 
well as a number of corporate administrative functions. These efforts helped hold expenses to a modest increase in expenses year over 
year. 

Fiscal 2007 

The outlook for fiscal 2007 reflects many of the economic and competitive factors that the Bank and the banking industry faced 
in fiscal 2006. As a result, we expect the operating environment to remain challenging with short-term interest rates continuing to rise 
while medium- and long term interest rates remain stable or rise moderately, which could have the effect of exerting further pressure on 
the Bank’s net interest margin. Structurally, the Bank’s balance sheet exhibits an asset sensitive bias over the long term, As a rcsult, the 
Bank’s greatest exposure is to a lower rate environment as asset yields would be expectcd to decline while deposit costs would be 
expected to stabilize. Should rates continue to rise, additional margin compression would be expected in the near term, howcver, 
management anticipates that the Bank’s balance sheet would benefit over time from a prolonged rising rate environment. 

In this challenging climate, the Bank will continue to focus on growth in its core businesses, namely the expansion of 
commercial real estate loans and retail deposits. With the acquisition of CCB, we expect to begin to capitalize on additional new business 
opportunities noted above. In addition, based on our success in substantially increasing loans in our urban markets in the last several 
fiscal years, Carver Federal has been consistently successful in competing for attractive resources from the public sector to extend our 
reach. 

Notably, on June 1, 2006, Carver Federal was selected by the U.S. Department of Treasury to receive an allocation of $59 
million in New Markets Tax Credits (“NMTC”) to provide loans to business willing to invest in low-income communities, including 
small business and certain real estate loans and other investments. The allocation was awarded to Carver Community Developmcnt 
Corporation, a for profit Community Development Entity (“CDE”) created by the Bank. Tax credits awarded by the government through 
the NMTC program enable loans to be made with advantaged terms including, in some cases, below market interest rates, thereby 
increasing capital to underserved communities. The NMTC program provides a credit to Carver Federal against federal income taxes 
when the Bank makes an equity investment in its CDE, which in turn uses this investment to make qualified loans in low-income 
communities, consistent with Carver’s marketplace. The allocations are expected to be made available during calendar year 2007, and 
annually thereafter over a seven year period. During this period, the Bank will be able to receive 39% of the award or approximately $23 
million in tax credits to be claimed over a seven year period, consistent with the CDE’s ability to make loans meeting the Treasury 
Department’s guidelines. A substantial portion of this benefit will be utilized for revitalization of our community, pursuant to the goals of 
the NMTC program. However, executing this program well is expected to increase our lending in our marketplace and improve 
shareholder value by reducing the Bank’s taxes. Carver is gratified to have been selected upon its first application in a highly compctitive 
selection process. 

Deposit growth is expected to follow our new business and marketing effort to core customer groups including landlords, 
churches and other non-profits as residents of the communities we serve. New products were offered to increase market share in these 
customer segments during fiscal 2006 including a lock-box service for landlords to collect rental payments, a checking overdraft line of 
credit (in an effort to continue building our checking account deposit base) and participation in the Certificate of Deposit Account 
Registry Services program to more efficiently address the collateral needs of large balance depositors. 

Regarding mortgage lending, the strength of originations and the purchase mortgage market coupled with the anticipated 
reduced level of loan prepayments should result in continued strong loan portfolio growth in fiscal 2007. Products such as sub-prime and 
jumbo mortgages for sale in the secondary market were introduced in fiscal 2006 to address the needs of additional prospective 
borrowers. Added emphasis to promote these products will be provided in fiscal 2007 in an effort to further fuel fee income growth. 
Planned net income growth in fiscal 2007 will be achieved by expanding non-interest income and emphasizing cost containment 
measures in fiscal 2007 thereby lowering the Bank’s efficiency ratio. It is anticipated that if further flattening of the U S .  Treasury yield 
curve occurs, the Bank may utilize the cash flow of an expansion in its core business to reduce its securities and borrowing portfolios, 
thereby limiting asset growth. 

The retail and lending teams of Carver and CCB are developing a strategy to onboard CCB customers and increase products to 
deepen those relationships, in addition to new business activities designed to capitalize on Carver’s larger footprint. In addition we are 
evaluating strategies to increase efficiencies and maximize the combination of the Company’s balance sheets. 
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Critical Accounting Policies 

Various elements of our accounting policies, by their nature, are inherently subject to estimation techniques, valuation 
assumptions and other sub.jective assessments. Our policy with respect to the methodologies used to determine the allowance for loan 
losses is our most critical accounting policy. This policy is important to the presentation of our financial condition and results of 
operations, and it involves a higher degree of complexity and requires management to make difficult and subjective judgments, which 
often require assumptions or estimates about highly uncertain matters. The use of different judgments, assumptions and estimates could 
result in material differences in our results of operations or financial condition. 

See Note 1 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for a description of our critical accounting policies including those 
related to allowance for loan losses and an explanation of the methods and assumptions underlying its application. 

Assetniability Management 

Net interest income, the primary component of Carver Federal’s net income, is determined by the difference or “spread” 
between the yield earned on interest-earning assets and the rates paid on its interest-bearing liabilities and the relative amounts of such 
assets and liabilities. Because Carver Federal’s interest-bearing liabilities consist primarily of shorter term deposit accounts, Carver 
Federal’s interest rate spread can be adversely affected by changes in general interest rates if its interest-earning assets are not suficiently 
sensitive to changes in interest rates. The Bank has sought to reduce its exposure to changes in interest rates by more closely matching the 
effective maturities and repricing periods of its interest-earning assets and interest-bearing liabilities through a variety of strategies, 
including the origination and purchase of adjustable-rate mortgage loans for its portfolio, investment in adjustable-rate mortgage-backed 
securities and shorter-term investment securities and the sale of all long term fixed-rate mortgage loans originated into the secondary 
markct. 

Discussion of Market Risk-Interest Rate Sensitivity Analysis 

As a financial institution, the Bank’s primary component of market risk is interest rate volatility. Fluctuations in interest rates 
will ultimately impact both the level of income and expense recorded on a large portion of the Bank’s assets and liabilities, and the 
market value of all interest-earning assets, other than those which are short term in maturity. Since all of the Company’s interest-bearing 
liabilities and virtually all of the Company’s interest-earning assets arc held by the Bank, most of the Company’s IRR exposure is 
retained by the Bank. As a result, all significant IRR management procedures are performed at the Bank, Based upon the Bank’s nature of 
operations, the Bank is not subject to foreign currency exchange or commodity price risk. The Bank does not own any trading assets. 

Carver Federal secks to manage its IRR by monitoring and controlling the variation in repricing intervals between its assets and 
liabilitics. To a lesser extent, Carver Federal also monitors its interest rate sensitivity by analyzing the estimated changes in market value 
of its assets and liabilities assuming various interest rate scenarios. As discussed more fully below, there are a variety of factors which 
influence the repricing characteristics of any given asset or liability. 

The matching of assets and liabilities may be analyzed by examining the extent to which such assets and liabilities are “interest 
rate sensitive” and by monitoring an institution’s interest rate sensitivity gap. An asset or liability is said to be interest rate sensitive 
within a specific period if it will mature or reprice within that period. The interest rate sensitivity gap is  defined as the difference between 
the amount of interest-earning assets maturing or repricing within a specific period of time and the amount of interest-bearing liabilities 
repricing within that same time period. A gap is considered positive when the amount of interest rate sensitive assets exceeds the amount 
of interest rate sensitive liabilities and is considered negative when the amount of interest rate sensitive liabilities exceeds the amount of 
interest rate sensitive assets. Generally, during a period of falling interest rates, a negative gap could result in an increase in net interest 
income, while a positive gap could adversely affect net interest income. Conversely, during a period of rising interest rates a negative gap 
could adversely affect net interest income, while a positive gap could result in an increase in net interest income. As illustrated below, 
Carver Federal had a negative one-year gap equal to 25.48% of total rate sensitive assets at March 31,2006. As a result, Carver Federal’s 
net interest income could be negatively affected by rising interest rates and positively affected by falling interest rates. 

The following table sets forth information regarding the projected maturities, prepayments and repricing of the major rate- 
sensitive asset and liability categories of Carver Federal as of March 3 l ,  2006. Maturity repricing dates have been projected by applying 
estimated prepayment rates based on the current rate environment. The information presented in the following table is derived in part 
from data incorporated in “Schedule CMR: Consolidated Maturity and Rate,” which is part of the Bank’s quarterly reports filed with the 
OTS. The repricing and other assumptions are not necessarily representative of the Bank’s actual results. Classifications of items in the 
table below are different from those presented in other tables and the financial statements and accompanying notes included herein and do 
not reflect non-performing loans. 
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Rate Sensitive ;scts: 
Loans and mortgage-backed 

sccurilies 
Fcderal funds sold and intcrcsl 

earning dcposits 
Investment securitics 

Ratc Sensitive Liabilities: 
NOW demand 
Savings and clubs 
Money markel savings 
Certificates of deposit 
Borrowings 

lntercst Sensitivity Gap 

Cumulative Interest Scnsitivily Gap 
Katio of Cumulative Gap to Total 

Total interest-earning assets 

Total interest-bearing liabilities 

Rate Sensitive assets 

Three or 
Less 

Months 

$ 95,862 

9.300 
969 

l06,13 1 

4,539 
9,561 
2,437 

40.6 I7 
18.867 

$ 76,021 
$ 30,110 

$ 30,110 

4 89% 

Four to 
Twelve 
Months 

$ 34,878 

_ _  
3.839 

38,717 

5.236 
9,647 
1,360 

176,96 1 
-- . 32,484 
%i 225,688 
$ (186,971) 

$ (156,861) 

-25 48% 

Over One Over 
through Three Over Five 
Three through through 
Years Five Years Ten Years 

(dollars in thousands) 

$ 96,802 tb: 56,499 $ 150,598 

-- _ _  _ _  
. - 7,847 4.038 ~ I I  
104,649 60,537 150,609 

12,564 10,652 14,085 
19,159 12,126 29.483 
8,668 19,895 3,018 

30,680 14,883 818 
I94 44.165 

$ 115,236 $ 57,556 $ 47,598 
% (10,587) $ 2,981 $ 103,011 

$ (167.448) $(364,467) S (61,456) 

” .- 
.. 

-27 20% -26 71% -9 98% 

Over Ten 
Years 

$ 155,001 

-- 
_- -. -- 

lSS,001 

11,914 
59.747 
4,667 

3 

tb: 76.331 
%i 78,670 

$ 17,214 

_- ~. .- 

2 80% 

Total 

tb: 589,640 

9,300 
16,704 

6 I 5,644 

58,990 
139,723 
40,045 

263,962 
95.710 

$ 598,430 
tb: 17,214 

_ _  

The table above assumes that fixed maturity deposits are not withdrawn prior to maturity and that transaction accounts will 
decay as disclosed in the table above. 

Certain shortcomings are inherent in the method of analysis presented in the table above. Although certain asscts and liabilities 
may have similar maturities or periods of repricing, they may react in  differcnt degrees to changes in the market intercst rates. The 
interest rates on certain types of assets and liabilities may fluctuate in advance of changes in market intcrest rates, while rates on other 
types of assets and liabilities may lag behind changes in market intcrest rates. Certain assets, such as adjustable-rate mortgages, generally 
have features that restrict changes in interest rates on a short-term basis and over the life of the asset. In the event of a change in interest 
rates, prepayments and early withdrawal levels would likely deviate significantly from those assumed in calculating the table. 
Additionally, credit risk may increase as many borrowers may experience an inability to service their debt in the event of a rise in interest 
rate. Virtually all of the adjustable-rate loans in Carver Federal’s portfolio contain conditions that restrict the periodic change in interest 
rate. 

Net Portjdio Value (“NPV”) Anulysis. As part of its efforts to maximize net interest income while managing risks associated 
with changing interest rates, management also uses the NPV methodology. 

Under this methodology, IRR exposure is assessed by reviewing the estimated changes in net interest income (“NII”) and NPV 
that would hypothetically occur if interest rates rapidly rise or fall along the yield curve. Projected values of NII and NPV at both higher 
and lower regulatory defined rate scenarios are compared to base case values (no change in rates) to determine the sensitivity to changing 
interest rates. 
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Presented below, as of March 31, 2006, is an analysis of the Bank’s 1RR as measured by changes in NPV and NII for 
instantaneous and sustained parallel shifts of 100 basis points in market interest rates. Such limits have been established with 
consideration of the impact of various rate changes and the Bank’s current capital position. The Bank considers its level of IRR for fiscal 
2006, as measured by changes in NPV, to be minimal. The information set forth below relates solely to the Bank; however, because 
virtually all of the Company’s IRR exposure lies at the Bank level, management believes the table below also similarly reflects an 
analysis of the Company’s IRR. 

Net Portfolio Value NPV as a % of PV of Assets 
Change in Rate $ Amount $ Change % Change NPV Ratio Change 

(Dollars in thousands) 
+300 bp 69,337 (18,204) -21% 10.55% -22617~ 
+200 bp 76,222 (1 1,3 19) -13% 11.43% -138bp 
+I00 bp 82,270 (5,271) -6% 12.18% -63bp 

0 bP 87,541 -* -* 12.81% -- 
-100 bp Y 1,875 4,334 5% 13.31% +50bp 
-200 bp 95,524 73x3 9% 13.71% +90bp 

March 31,2006 

Risk Measures: +200 bp Rate Shock 
Pre-Shock NPV Ratio: NPV as % of‘PV of Assets 
Post-Shock NPV Ratio 
Sensitivity Measure: Declinc in NPV Ratio 

1 2.8 1 % 
1 I .43% 
138 bp 

Certain shortcomings are inherent in the methodology used in the above IRR measurements. Modeling changes in NPV require 
the making of certain assumptions, which may or may not reflect the manner in which actual yields and costs respond to changes in 
market interest rates. In this regard, the NPV table presented assumes that the composition of Carver Federal’s interest sensitive assets 
and liabilities existing at the beginning of a period remains constant over the period being measured and also assumes that a particular 
change in interest rates is reflected uniformly across the yield curve regardless of the duration to maturity or repricing of specific assets 
and liabilities. Accordingly, although the NPV table provides an indication of Carver Federal’s IRR exposure at a particular point in time, 
such measurements are not intended to and do not provide a precise forecast of the effect of changes in market interest rates on Carver 
Federal’s net interest income and may differ from actual results. 

Average Balance, Interest and Average Yields and Rates 

The following table sets forth certain information relating to Carver Federal’s average interest-earning assets and average 
interest-bearing liabilities and reflects the average yield on assets and the average cost of liabilities for the years indicated. These yields 
and costs are derived by dividing income or expense by the average balances of assets or liabilities, respectively, for the periods shown. 
Average balances are derived from average month-end balances, except for federal funds which are derived from daily balances. The use 
of average monthly balances instead of average daily balances on all other accounts should not result in material differences in the 
information presented. 

The table also presents information for the years indicated with respect to the difference between the weighted average yield 
earned on interest-earning assets and the weighted average rate paid on interest-bearing liabilities, or “interest rate spread,” which savings 
institutions have traditionally used as an indicator of profitability. Another indicator of an institution’s profitability is its “net interest 
margin,” which is its net interest income divided by the average balance of interest-earning assets. Net interest income is affected by the 
interest rate spread and by the relative amounts of interest-earning assets and interest-bearing liabilities. When interest-earning assets 
approximate or exceed interest-bearing liabilities, any positive interest rate spread will generate net interest income. 
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Month Ended March 31,2006 Year Ended March 31,2006 

Interest-earning Assets: 
Loans ( 1 )  
Investment sccurities (2) 
Mortgage-backed sccurities 
Federal funds 

Non-interest-carning assets 
Total intercst-earning asscts 

Total assets 

Interest-bearing Liabilities: 
Dcposits: 

NOW dcmand 
Savings and clubs 
Moncy market savings 
Certificates of deposit 

Total deposits 
Mortgagors deposits 
Borrowed money 

Total deposits and interest-bcaring 
liabilities 

Demand 
Other liabilities 

Total liabilities 
Stockholdcrs’ equity 

Total liabilities and 
stockholders’ cquity 

Non-interest-bearing liabilities: 

Net intercst income 

Average interest rate spread 

Net interest margin 

Ratio of average interest-earning 
assets to interest-bearing liabilities 

( 1  ) Includes non-accrual loans 
(2) Includes FH1.B-NY stock 

Average 
Balance 

Average Average 
Yield/Cost Balance Interest 

(Dollars in thousands) 

Average 
YieldKOst 

$ 487,937 
18,105 
98,366 

5,929 
61 0,337 

34,387 
L 6 4 4 . 7 2 4  

$ 25,640 
139,304 
33,806 

259.378 
458, I28 

1,789 
98,407 

558,324 

30,940 
6,413 

595,677 
49.047 

$644,124 

6.77% 
3.84% 
4.22% 
4.37% 
6.25% 

0.30% 
0.68% 
2.01% 
3.76% 
2.50% 
1.46% 
4.56% 

2.86% 

$ 443,461 
25,698 

11 3,574 
12.166 

594,899 
35,198 

- $ .. 630,097 

$ 24,397 
137,934 
36,583 

237.992 
436,906 

2,044 
107,55 1 

546,501 

29,079 
6,980 

582,560 
47,537 

S 630.092 

$ 26,563 
97 1 

4,439 
412 

32,385 

$ 74 
919 
60 I 

7.297 
8,89 I 

30 
4,572 

13,493 

$1 8392 

5.99% 
3.78% 
3.91% 
3.39% 
5.44% 

0.30% 
0.67% 
1.64% 
3.07% 
2.03% 
1.47% 
4.25% 

2.47% 

2.97% 

108.86% 
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Interest-Earning Assets: 
Loans ( 1 )  
lnvestmenl securities (2) 
Mortgage-hacked securities 
Fcd funds sold 
'l'olal interest earning asscts 
Non-interest earning assets 

Total assets 

Interest Bearing Liabilities: 
Deposits 
NOW demand 
Savings and clubs 
Money market savings 
Ccrtificatcs of deposit 
Total dcposits 
Mortgagers deposits 
13 orro w ed money 
Total interest hearing liabilities 
Non-intercst-bearing liabilities: 
Demand 
Othcr liabilities 
'l'otdl liabilities 
Stockholders' equity 
Total liabilities and stockholders' equity 
Net interest income 

Average intcrcst rate spread 

Net interest margin 

Ratio of average interest-earning 
asscts to interest-hearing liabilities 

Year Ended March 31, 
200s 2004 

Average Average 
Average Yield/ Average Yield/ 
Balance Interest Cost Balance Interest cost  

(Dollars in thousands) 

$3843 16 
29,547 

125,643 
10,724 

550,830 
3 1,677 

$582.507 

$ 22,933 
133,621 
30,l I6 

208,584 
395,254 

2,217 
109,787 
507,258 

22,857 
6,724 

536,839 
45,668 

$582,5007 

$22,940 5.96% 
827 2.80% 

4,605 3.67% 
174 1.629'0 

28,546 5.18% 
~~ 

$ 69 0.30% 
801 0.60% 
302 1.00% 

4,258 2.04% 
5,430 1.37% 

25 1.15% 
4,303 3.92% 
9,758 1.92% 

108.5 9% 

$ 314,297 $20,1117 
29,708 1,161 

126,764 4,789 
22,194 167 

492,963 26,234 
28,423 

ii=zxJ& 

$ 23,286 
130,509 
27,662 

163,382 
344,839 

1,643 
106.350 
452,832 

$ 85 
I ,00 I 

235 
3,304 
4,625 

24 
4,05 1 
8,700 

19,408 
6.746 

478,986 
42,400 

2LELB6 
$ 17,534 

6.40% 
3.91% 
3.78% 
0.75% 
5.32% 

0.37% 
0.77% 
0.85% 

2.02% 
1.34% 
1.46% 

1.92% 

2&@ 
3.56% 

W% 

( 1 )  Includes non-accrual loans. 
(2) Includes WLB-NY stock. 
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RateNolume Analysis 

The following table sets forth information regarding the extent to which changes in interest rates and changcs in volume of 
interest related assets and liabilities have affected Carver Federal’s interest income and expense during the periods indicated. For each 
category of interest-earning asset and interest-bearing liability, information is provided for changes attributable to: (1) changes in volume 
(changcs in volume multiplied by new rate); ( 2 )  changes in rates (change in rate multiplied by old volume); and ( 3 )  changes in 
rateholume. Changes in rateholume variance are allocated proportionately between changes in rate and changes in volume. 

Year Ended March 31, 
2006 vs. 2005 2005 vs. 2004 

Increase (Decrease) due to Increase Pecrease) due to 
Volume Rate 

Interest Earning Assets: 
I m n s  $ 3,489 $ 134 
Investmcnt securitics ( 1 )  145 
Mortgagebacked securities (560) 394 
Fed funds 
Total intcrest earning assets 

Interest Bearing Liabilities: 
Deposits 
NOW demand 
Savings and clubs 
Money market savings 
Certificates of dcposit 
Total deposits 
Mortgagers dcposits 
Borrowed money 
Total deposits and intcrest bearing 
liabilities 

23 
2,95 1 

215 
888 

Net change in interest income -4 I Lwx) 

Total Volume Rate Total 
(Dollars in thousands) 

$ 4,209 $ (1,386) !$ 2,823 
(5) (329) (334) 

(41) (143) ( 1  84) 
(186) - 193 7 

3,977 (1,665) 2,312 

Comparison of Financial Condition at March 31,2006 and 2005 

At March 31, 2006, total assets increased by $34.6 million, or 5.5%, to $661.0 million compared to $626.4 million at March 31, 
2005. The increase in total assets was primarily attributable to an increase in loans receivable partially offset by a reduction in total 
securities. 

Loans receivable, net, increased by $71.4 million, or 16.9%, to $493.4 million as of March 31, 2006 compared to $422.0 million 
one year ago. The net loan growth during fiscal 2006 reflects loan originations of $ 1  11.3 million and loan purchases of $96.1 million, 
offset by principal repayments of $ I  13.5 million and loans sold to various third party purchasers of $22.5 million. One- to four-family 
mortgage loans decreased by $12.4 million, or 7.9%, to $143.4 million at March 31,2006 compared to $155.8 million at March 31, 2005. 
The decrease in one- to four-family loans is primarily due to repayments and loan sales of $36.9 and $22.5 million, respectively, partially 
offset by loan originations and purchases of $15.1 and $32.2 million, respectively. Multifamily real estate loans increased by $2.8 million, 
or 2.8%, to $104.7 million at March 31, 2006 compared to $101.9 million at March 31, 2005 as originations and purchases of $18.1 and 
$9.5 million, respectively, exceeded repayments of $24.8 million. Non-residential real estate loans increased by $37.3 million, or 3 1.9%, 
to $154.0 million at March 31, 2006 compared to $ I  16.8 million at March 3 I ,  2005 primarily as a result of originations and purchases of 
$33.6 and $27.3 million, respectively, partially offset by repayments of $23.6 million during the year. Construction loans increased by 
$43.9 million, or 90.4%, to $92.5 million at March 31, 2006 compared to $48.6 million at March 31, 2005 primarily due to originations 
and purchases of $44.0 and $27.1 million, respectively, partially offset by repayments of $27.2 million. The Bank continues to grow its 
balance sheet through focusing on the origination of real estate loans in the markets it serves and will continue to augment these 
originations with loan purchases. Consumer and business loans decreased by $244,000, or 14.4%, to $1 S million at March 31, 2006 
compared to $1.7 million at March 3 I ,  2005 reflecting repayments of $776,000 partially offset by new originations of $532,000, 

Total securities at March 3 I ,  2006 decreased $41.0 million to $108.3 million from $149.3 million at March 31,2005, reflecting 
a decline of $36.2 million in available-for-sale securities and a $4.9 million decrease in held-to-maturity securities. The decrease in 
available-for-sale securities primarily reflects $60.6 million of principal repayments and maturities, $1.6 million in proceeds from sales of 
securities partially offset by purchases of new available-for-sale securities of $26.8 million. The $4.9 million decrease in held-to-maturity 
securities reflects principal payments and maturities. Available-for-sale securities represented 75.6% of the total securities portfolio at 
March 31, 2006 compared to 79.0% at March 31, 2005. The current strategy is to reduce the investment portfolio through normal cash 
flows and reinvest the proceeds into higher yielding loans. However, the Bank may invest in  securities from time to time to help diversify 
its asset portfolio and satisfy collateral requirements for certain deposits. 
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At March 31,2006, total liabilities increased $31.7 million, or 5.5%, to $612.3 million compared to $580.6 million at March 31, 
2005. Deposits increased $48.8 million, or !0.7%, to $504.6 million at March 31, 2006 from $455.9 million at March 31, 2005. Thc 
increase in deposits was primarily attributable to increases of $34.3 million in certificates of deposit, $9.3 million in demand accounts, 
$3.8 million in money market accounts and $1.9 million in regular savings and club accounts. Deposit increases reflects $35.0 million in 
new certificates of deposit from the City and the State under New York State’s Banking Development District program and new money 
from the Bank’s increased retail depositors from new branch offices. These additional funds from deposit growth were used to fund loan 
originations/purchases and repay borrowings. Total FHLB-NY borrowings decreased $21.6 million, or 21 .0%, to $80.9 million at March 
3 1 ,  2006 from $102.5 million at March 3 1 ,  2005 as a result of net repayments of maturing advances. 

At March 31, 2006, stockholders’ equity incrcased $2.9 million, or 6.3%, to $48.7 million compared to $45.8 million at March 
31, 2005. The increase in stockholders’ equity was primarily attributable to additional retained earnings of $3.0 million and net stock 
transactions of $349,000 partially offset by $439,000 additional accumulated other comprehensive loss. The change in accumulated other 
comprehensive loss consists of a net loss of $158,000 related to the mark-to-market of the Bank’s available-for-sale securities and a net 
reserve of $281,000 for the Company’s unfunded employee pension liability. The Rank’s capital levels meet regulatory requirements o f a  
well capitalized financial institution. 

Comparison of Operating Results for the Years Ended March 31,2006 and 2005 

Net Income 

The Bank reported net income for fiscal 2006 of $3.8 million compared to $2.6 million for the prior fiscal year. Net income 
available to common stockholders for fiscal 2006 was $3.8 million, or $1.47 per diluted common share compared to $2.5 million, or 
$1.03 per dilutcd common share, for fiscal 2005. The incrcase in net income was primarily due to higher non-interest income of $1.3 
million, a decline in income tax expense of $189,000 and an increase in net intcrest income of $104,000 partially offset by an increase in 
non-interest expense of $438,000. 

Interest Income 

Interest income increased in tiscal 2006 by $3.8 million, or 13.5% to $32.4 million, frorn the prior fiscal year. The average 
balance of intcrest-earning assets increased to $594.9 million for fiscal 2006 from $550.8 million for the prior fiscal year. Adding to the 
increase was a risc in the average yield on interest-earning assets to 5.44% for fiscal 2006 compared to 5.1 8% for fiscal 2005. 

Interest income on loans increased by $3.6 million, or 15.8%, to $26.6 million for fiscal 2006 compared to $22.9 million for the 
prior fiscal ycar. The increase in interest income from Ioani was primarily the resl;!t cf a $58.5 mi!lion increxe in average ! c x  t-a!ar.ccs 
to $443.5 million for fiscal 2006 compared to $384.9 million for fiscal 2005, coupled with the effects of a 3 basis point increase i n  the 
average rate earned on loans to 5.99% for fiscal 2006 from 5.96% for the prior fiscal year. The increase in  the average balance of loans 
reflects originations and purchases in excess of principal collections. The minimal increase in the average rate earned on loans was 
principally due to the repricing of certain construction loans that are tied to short term rates that have increased with the rise in the 
overnight federal funds rate, see “Item 7. Management Discussion and Analysis--Liquidity and Capital Resources.” 

Interest income on mortgage-backed securities decreased by $ 1  66,000, or 3.6%, to $4.4 million for fiscal 2006 compared to $4.6 
million for the prior fiscal year, reflecting a decrease of $12.1 million in the average balance of mortgage-backed securities to $113.6 
million for fiscal 2006 compnred to $125.6 million for fiscal 2005. Partially offsetting the decline was an 24 basis point increase in the 
average rate earned on mortgage-backed securities to 3.91% for fiscal 2006 from 3.67% for the prior fiscal year. The decrease in the 
average balance of such securities demonstrates Management’s commitment to invest proceeds received frorn increased deposits and the 
cash tlows from the repayment of investments into higher yielding assets. 

Interest income on investment securities incrcascd by approximately $144,000, or 17.4%, to $971,000 for fiscal 2006 compared 
to $827,000 for the prior fiscal year. The increase in interest income on investment securities retlects a 98 basis point increase in the 
average rate earned on investment securities to 3.78% for fiscal 2006 frorn 2.80% for the prior fiscal year partially offset by a decrease of 
$3.8 million in the average balance of investment securities to $25.7 million for fiscal 2006 comparcd to $19.5 million for fiscal 2005. 

Interest incomc on fcderal funds increased $238,000, or 136.8%, to $412,000 for fiscal 2006 compared to $174,000 for the prior 
fiscal year. I’he increase is primarily attributable to a 177 basis point increase in the average rate earned on fcdcral funds coupled with a 
$1.4 million increase in the average balance of federal funds year over year. This large increase in the returns on federal funds was 
realiLed as thc FRB continually raised the federal funds rate over the course of thc entire fiscal year. 



Interest Expense 

lnterest expense increased by $3.7 million, or 38.3%, to $13.5 million for fiscal 2006 compared to $9.8 million for the prior 
fiscal year. The increase in interest expense reflects an increase of $39.2 million in the average balance of interest-bearing liabilities to 
$546.5 million in fiscal 2006 from $507.3 million in fiscal 2005. Additionally, the total cost of interest-bearing liabilities increased 55 
basis points to 2.47% in fiscal 2006 compared to I .92% in the prior year. The increase in the average balance of interest-bearing liabilities 
in fiscal 2006 compared to fiscal 2005 was due to increases in both the average balancc of interest-bearing deposits and the average 
balance of borrowed money. 

lnterest expensc on deposits increased $3.5 million, or 63.5%, to $8.9 million for fiscal 2006 compared to $5.5 million for the 
prior fiscal year. This increase is attributable to a $41.7 million, or 10.5%, increase in the average balance of interest-bearing deposits to 
$436.9 tnillion for fiscal 2006 compared to $395.3 million for fiscal 2005 coupled with a 66 basis point increase year over year in thc cost 
of average deposits. The increase in the average balance of interest-bearing deposits was primarily due to an incrcase in the average 
balancc of certificates of‘deposit of$29.4 million, or 14. I%, an incrcase in the avcrage balancc of money market accounts of$G.5 million, 
or 21.5%, an increase in the average balance of savings and club accounts of$4.3 million, or 3.2%, and an increase in the average balance 
of checking accounts of $1.5 million, or 6.496. The increase in the average rate paid on deposits was principally due to the rise in the 
interest rate environment throughout fiscal 2006. 

lnterest expense on borrowed money increased by $269,000 or 6.3o/b, to $4.6 million for fiscal 2006 cornpared to $4.3 million 
for the prior fiscal year. The increase in interest expense on borrowed money for fiscal 2006 reflects a rise o f  33 basis points in the 
average cost of borrowed money, primarily the result of increases in the indexed rate of trust preferred debt securities which adjust 
quarterly and have increased in the current interest rate environment. Partially offsetting the increase was a $2.2 million decline in the 
average balancc of borrowed money reflecting management’s strategy of using deposit growth and cash flows from the repayment of 
mortgage-backed securities to repay FHLB-NY advances. 

Net Interest Income 

Net interest income represents the difference between incomc on interest-earning assets and expense on interest-bearing 
liabilities. Net interest income depends primarily upon the volume of interest-earning assets and interest-bearing liabilities and the 
corresponding interest rates earned and paid. Our nct interest income is significantly impacted by changes in interest rate and market yield 
curvcs. See “--Discussion of Market Risk--Interest Rate Sensitivity Analysis” for further discussion on the potential impact of changes in 
interest rates on our results of operations. 

Net interest income before the provision for loan losses increased $104,000, or O.6%, to $18.9 million for fiscal 2006 compared 
to $18.8 million for the prior fiscal year. This modest increase was achieved as a result of an increase in both the average balance and the 
return on average interest-earning assets of $44.1 million and 26 basis points, respectively. Mainly offsetting the increase in net interest 
income was an increase in the average balance and cost of intcrest-bearing liabilities of $39.2 million and 55 basis points, respectively. 
The result was a 29 basis point decrease in the interest rate spread to 2.97% for fiscal 2006 compared to 3.26% for the prior fiscal year. 
The net interest margin also decreased to 3.1 8% for fiscal 2006 compared to 3.41% for fiscal 2005. 

Provision for Loan Losses 

During fiscal 2005 no provision was recorded for loan losses. ‘fhe Bank records provisions for loan losses, which arc charged to 
earnings, in order to maintain the allowance for loan losses at a level that is considered appropriate to absorb probable losses inherent in 
the existing loan portfolio. Factors considered when evaluating the adequacy of the allowance for loan losses include the volumc and type 
of lending conductcd, the Bank’s previous loan loss experience, the known and inherent risks in the loan portfolio, adverse situations that 
may affect the borrowers’ ability to repay, the estimated value of any underlying collatcral and trends in the local and national economy 
and trends in the real estate market. 

During fiscal 2006, the Bank had net charge-offs of $82,000 compared to $28,000 for fiscal 2005. At March 31, 2006, non- 
performing loans totaled $2.8 million or 0.55% of total loans compared to $998,000, or 0.23% of total loans, at March 31, 2005. At 
March 3 I ,  2006, thc Bank’s allowance for loan losses was $4.0 million compared to $4.1 million at March 31, ZOOS, resulting in a ratio of 
the allowance to non-performing loans of 147. I % at March 3 I ,  2006 compared to 41 0.7% at March 3 1,2005, and a ratio of allowance for 
possible loan losses to total loans of 0.81% and 0.96% at March 31, 2006 and March 31, 2005, respectively. l h e  Bank believes its 
reported allowance for loan loss at March 3 I ,  2006 is adequate to provide for estimated probable losses in the loan portfolio. For further 
discussion of non-performing loans and allowance for loan losses, sce “Item 1 Business--General Description of Business-Asset Quality” 
and Note 1 of Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements. 

Non-Intetest Income 

Non-interest income is comprised of loan fees and service charges, fee income from banking services and charges, gains or 
losses from the sale of securities, loans and other assets and certain other miscellaneous non-interest income. Non-interest income 
increased $1.3 million, or 3 1.1%, to $5.3 million for fiscal 2006 compared to $4.1 million for fiscal 2005. The rise in non-interest income 
was comprised of an increase of $363,000 in loan fees and service charges, primarily greater loan prepayment penalty income and late 
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charge fees. Additional depository fees and charges of $246,000 were achieved primarily from higher ATM usage, growth in debit card 
income and commissions earned on the sale of investments and life insurance. Further contributing to the rise in non-interest income was 
additional gains on the sale of loans of $267,000, predominantly from the bulk sale o f  $10.7 million of residential one-to four family 
mortgage loans. An increase of $77,000 in other income was also achieved primarily as a result of additional income earned on the 
Bank’s investment in a bank owned life insurance program. Further contributing to the increase in non-interest income year over year was 
the Company’s recognition of a $1.5 million impairment charge deemed other than temporary in the second quarter of fiscal 2005, 
resulting from the decline in market price of 150,000 shares of IFSB stock that the Company previously held. Partially offsetting that 
impairment charge in fiscal 2005 was the receipt of a net $1.1 million Community Development Financial Institutions grant from the 
Department of the Treasury and a $94,000 gain from the sale of securities. 

Non-Interest Expense 

Non-interest expense increased by $438,000, or 2.3%, to $19.1 million for fiscal 2006 compared to $18.7 million for the prior 
fiscal year. The increase in non-interest expense was primarily attributable to increases in net occupancy and equipment expenses of 
$327,000 and $33 1,000, respectively, resulting from the full year effect in fiscal 2006 of the new branch office and ATM center openings 
in fiscal 2005. Also contributing to the rise in non-interest expense were increases in retail banking chargeoffs, legal fees and insurance 
costs of $196,000, $160,000 and $1 12,000, respectively. Partially offsetting the increase in non-interest expense was a charge of 
$847,000 in fiscal 2005 for merger and acquisition expenses related to the attempted acquisition of IFSB. Much of the increase in the 
Rank’s operating expenses was a result of the investment made in fiscal 2004 and 2005 to grow the franchise. During fiscal 2006, in an 
effort to reduce don-interest expenses, the Bank implemented cost cutting strategies by outsourcing our ATM driving technology as well 
as a number of corporate administrative functions. 

Income Tau Ekpense 

Income tax expense was $1.3 million for fiscal 2006, a decline of $189,000 or 12.5%, from $1.5 million for fiscal 2005 as a 
result of a $500,000 recovery of income tax expense in fiscal 2006 attributable to the release of contingency reserves for closed tax 
examination years. As a result the effective tax rate in fiscal 2006 was 26.1%, compared to 36.4% for fiscal 2005. It is anticipated that the 
effective tax rate for fiscal 2007 will be more comparative to that of fiscal 2005. 

Comparison of Operating Results for the Years Ended March 31,2005 and 2004 

Net Income 

The Bank reported net income for fiscal 2005 of $2.6 million compared to $4.8 mi ion for the prior fiscal year. Net income 
available to common stockholders for fiscal 2005 was $2.5 million, or $1.03 per diluted common share compared to $4.6 million, or 
$1.87 per diluted common share, for fiscal 2004. The decrease in net income was primarily due to an increase in non-interest expense of 
$3.2 million and a decrease in non-interest income of $1.2 million partially offset by an increase in net interest income of $1.3 million and 
a $975,000 reduction in income tax expense. 

Interest Income 

Interest income increased for fiscal 2005 by $2.3 million, or 8.8% to $28.5 million, from the prior fiscal year. The average 
balance of interest-earning assets increased to $550.8 million for fiscal 2005 from $493.0 million for the prior fiscal year. This increase 
was partially offset by a decline in the average yield on interest-earning assets to 5.18% for fiscal 2005 compared to 5.32% for fiscal 
2004. 

Interest income on loans increased by $2.8 million, or 14.0%, to $22.9 million for fiscal 2005 compared to $20.1 million for the 
prior fiscal year. The increase i n  interest income from loans was primarily the result of a $70.6 million increase in average loan balances 
to $384.9 million for fiscal 2005 compared to $3 14.3 million for fiscal 2004, the effects of which were partially offset by a 44 basis point 
decrease in the average rate earned on loans to 5.96% for fiscal 2005 from 6.40% for the prior fiscal year. The increase in the average 
balance of loans reflects originations and purchases in excess of principal collections. The decline in the average rate earned on loans was 
principally due to the downward pricing on loan products during the low interest rate environment experienced during most of fiscal 
2005. 

Interest income on mortgage-backed securities decreased by $184,000, or 3.8%, to $4.6 million for fiscal 2005 compared to $4.8 
million for the prior fiscal year, reflecting the combined effects an 11 basis point decrease in the average rate earned on mortgage-backed 
securities to 3.67% for fiscal 2005 from 3.78% for the prior fiscal year, and a decrease of $1.1 million in the average balance of 
mortgage-backed securities to $125.6 million for fiscal 2005 compared to $126.8 million for fiscal 2004. The decrease in the average 
balance of such securities demonstrates Management’s commitment to invest proceeds received from increased borrowings and deposits 
into higher yielding assets. 

Interest income on investment securities decreased by approximately $334,000, or 28.8%, to $827,000 for fiscal 2005 compared 
to $1.2 million for the prior fiscal year. The decrease in interest income on investment securities reflects a 11 1 basis point decrease in the 
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average rate earned on investment securities to 2.80% for fiscal 2005 from 3.91 % for the prior fiscal year and a decrease of $ I6 1,000 in 
the average balance of investment securities to $29.5 million for fiscal 2005 compared to $29.7 million for fiscal 2004. 

Interest income on federal funds increased $7,000, or 42%, to $174,000 for fiscal 2005 compared to $167,000 for the prior 
fiscal year. The increase is primarily attributable to an 87 basis point increase in the average rate earned on federal funds, partially offset 
by a $1 1.5 million decrease in the average balance of federal funds year over year. This large increase in the returns on federal funds was 
realized as the FRB continually increased the federal funds rate during the entire fiscal year. 

Interest Expense 

Interest expense increased by $1.1 million, or 12.2%, to $9.8 million for fiscal 2005 compared to $8.7 million for the prior fiscal 
year. The increase in interest expense reflects an increase of $54.4 million in the average balance of interest-bearing liabilities to $507.2 
million in fiscal 2005 from $452.8 million in fiscal 2004 as the total cost of interest-bearing liabilities rcmained unchanged at 1.92% from 
year to year. The increase in the average balance of interest-bearing liabilities in fiscal 2005 compared to fiscal 2004 was due to increases 
in both the average balance of interest-bearing deposits and the average balance of borrowed money. 

Interest expense on deposits increased $806,000, or 17.3%, to $5.5 million for fiscal 2005 compared to $4.6 million for the prior 
fiscal year. This increase is attributable to a $50.4 million, or 14.6%, increase in the average balance of interest-bearing deposits to $395.3 
million for fiscal 2005 compared to $344.8 million for fiscal 2004 and, to a much lesser extent, a 3 basis point increase year over year in 
the cost of average deposits. The increase in the average balance of interest-bearing deposits was primarily due to an increase in the 
average balance of certificates of deposit of $45.2 million, or 27.7%, an increase in the average balance of savings and club accounts of 
$3.1 million, or 2.4%, and an increase in the average balance of money market accounts of $2.5 million, or 8.92%. The increase in 
average interest-bearing deposits was achieved largely through deposits generated by the two new branch offices and two new ATM 
centers in fiscal 2005. The slight increase in the average rate paid on deposits was principally due to the ascend in the interest rate 
environment towards the end of fiscal 2005. 

Interest expense on borrowed money increased by $252,000 or 6.2%, to $4.3 million for fiscal 2005 compared to $4.1 million 
for the prior fiscal year. The increase in interest expense on borrowed money for fiscal 2005 reflects a $3.4 million, or 3.2%, increase in 
the average balance of borrowed money reflecting the effects of the trust preferred debt securities being outstanding for twelve months in 
fiscal 2005 as compared to six months in fiscal 2004, the year they were issued. Also contributing to the increase in interest expense is a 
rise of 11 basis points in the average cost of borrowed money primarily the result of increases in the indexed rate of the trust preferred 
debt securities which adjust quarterly and has increased in the current interest rate environment. 

Net Interest Income 

Net interest income before the provision for loan losses increased $1.3 million, or 7.2%, to $18.8 million for fiscal 2005 
compared to $17.5 million for the prior fiscal year. This increase was achieved despite a decline in the return on average interest-earning 
assets of 14 basis points in fiscal 2005 from fiscal 2004 while the cost of interest-bearing liabilities used to fund interest-earning assets 
remained unchanged from year to year. The result was a 14 basis point decrease in the interest rate spread to 3.26% for fiscal 2005 
compared to 3.40% for the prior fiscal year. The net interest margin also decreased to 3.41% for fiscal 2005 compared to 3.56% for fiscal 
2004. 

Provision for  Loan Losses 

During fiscal 2005 no provision was recorded for loan losses. During fiscal 2005, the Bank had net charge-offs of $28,000 
compared to $33,000 for fiscal 2004. At March 3 1, 2005, non-performing loans totaled $998,000 or 0.2% of total loans compared to $2.1 
million, or 0.6% of total loans, at March 31, 2004. At March 31, 2005, the Bank’s allowance for loan losses was $4.1 million, 
substantially unchanged from the allowance at March 3 1,2004, resulting in a ratio of the allowance to non-performing loans of 410.7% at 
March 31, 2005 compared to 194.3% at March 3 I ,  2004, and a ratio of allowance for possible loan losses to total loans of 0.96% and 
1.16% at March 3 1,2005 and March 3 1,  2004, respectively. 

Non-Interest Income 

Non-interest income decreased $1.2 million, or 22.8%, to $4.1 million for fiscal 2005 compared to $5.3 million for fiscal 2004. 
The decrease is primarily due a $1.5 million impairment charge taken on the IFSB stock held in our available for sale portfolio. 
Additionally, with the slow down in loan refinancing activity, lower loan prepayment penalty income resulted in a decline in loan fees 
and service charges of $739,000. Further, other non-interest income declined $373,000 when cornpared to the same period last fiscal year 
when a recovery of $558,000 was recorded as income in recognition o f  previously unrecognized mortgage loan income. Offsetting these 
reductions to non-interest income are income from the receipt of a net $1.1 million Community Development Financial Institutions grant 
from the Department of Treasury, an increase of $287,000 in depository fees and charges from additional depositors of our new branch 
offices and ATM centers, and a $63,000 gain from securities sale. 



Non-Interest Expense 

Non-interest expcnse increased by $3.2 million, or 20.8%, to $18.7 million for fiscal 2005 compared to $15.5 million for the 
prior fiscal year. The increase in non-interest expense was primarily attributable to increases of $1.9 million in salaries and employee 
benefits as a result of additions to staff from the branch expansion, severance and related costs of $355,000 and increased costs of benefits 
plans. Net occupancy and equipment expenses increased $514,000 and $122,000, respectively, mainly as a result of opening the new 
branch offices and ATM centers. Additionally, this fiscal year recorded a charge of $847,000 for merger and acquisition expenses related 
to the attempted acquisition of IFSB. These increases in non-interest expenses were slightly offset by a year over year $141,000 decrease 
in other non-interest expense primarily the net result of lower consulting, FDIC: deposit assessment and loan related expenses Offset by 
higher advertising, telephone and retail related expenses. 

Income Tax Expense 

Income tax expense was $1.5 million for fiscal 2005, a decline of $975,000 or 39.1 %, decrease from $2.5 million for fiscal 2004 
due to a reduction in the Company’s net income before taxes. The effective tax rate in  fiscal 2005 was 36.4%, compared to 34.0% for 
fiscal 2004. 

Liquidity and Capital Resources 

Liquidity is a measure of the Bank’s ability to generate adequate cash to meet financial obligations. The principal cash 
requirements of a financial institution are to cover potential deposit outflows, fund increases in its loan and investment portfolios and 
cover its ongoing operating expenses. The Company’s primary sources of funds are deposits, borrowed funds, principal and interest 
payments on loans, mortgage-backed securities and investment securities and fee income. While maturities and scheduled amortization of 
loans, mortgage-backed securities and investment securities are predictable sources of funds, deposit flows and loan and mortgage-backed 
securities prepayments are strongly influenced by changes in general interest rates, economic conditions and competition. 

Management believes the Bank’s short-term assets have sufficient liquidity to cover loan demand, potential fluctuations in 
deposit accounts and to meet other anticipated cash requirements. In addition, as previously discussed, the Bank has the ability to borrow 
funds from the FHLB-NY to meet any liquidity needs. The Bank monitors its liquidity utilizing guidelines that are contained in a policy 
developed by management of the Bank and approved by the Bank’s Board of Directors. The Bank’s several liquidity measurements are 
evaluated on a frequent basis. The Bank was in compliance with this policy as of March 3 I ,  2006. 

Congress eliminated the statutory liquidity requirement which required federal savings banks to maintain a minimum amount of 
liquid assets of between 4% and lo%, as determined by the Director of the OTS, the Bank’s primary federal regulator, The Bank is 
required to maintain sufficient liquidity to ensure its safe and sound operation. As a result of the elimination of the liquidity requirement, 
the Bank manages its liquidity through a Board-approved liquidity policy. l h e  Bank’s most liquid assets are cash and short-term 
investments. The level of these assets is dependent on the Bank’s operating, investing and financing activities during any given period. At 
March 31, 2006 and 2005, assets qualifying for short-term liquidity, including cash and short-term investments, totaled $25.2 million and 
$30.2 million, respectively. 

The levels of the Rank’s short-term liquid assets are dependent on the Bank’s operating, financing and investing activities 
during any given period. The most significant liquidity challenge the Bank currently faces is the variability in its cash flows as a result of 
mortgage refinance activity. As mortgage interest rates increase, customers’ refinance activities tend to decline, causing the cash flow 
from both the mortgage loan portfolio and the mortgage-backed securities portfolio to decelerate. During fiscal 2005 the federal funds 
rate increased seven separate times resulting in a total increase in the federal funds rate of 175 basis points. The federal funds rate was 
again raised in fiscal 2006 eight separate times resulting in an additional increase in the federal funds rate of 200 basis points. While the 
Bank experienced relatively high loan and securities repayments over the last two fiscal years primarily as a result of increased mortgage 
loan refinancing activity caused by the low longer term interest rate environment, management anticipates a leveling of these 
prepayments in fiscal 2007 as longer term rates remain at current levels or begin to climb the effect of which can hinder liquidity. 

The Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows present the change in cash from operating, investing and financing activities. 
During fiscal 2006, cash and cash equivalents increased by $2.5 million. Nct cash provided by operating activities was $30.5 million, 
representing primarily the proceeds from the sale o f  loans. Net cash used in investing activities was $54.4 million, which was primarily 
the result of originations and purchases of loans and purchases of securities partially offset by repayments and maturities of loans and 
securities sales. Net cash provided by financing activities was $26.4 million, reflecting primarily net increases in deposits partially offset 
by repayments of borrowings from the FHLB-NY and stock dividend payments. 

Off Balance Sheet Arrangements and Contractual Obligations 

The Bank is a party to financial instruments with off-balance sheet risk in the normal course of business in order to meet the 
financing needs of its customers. These instruments involve, to varying degrees, elements of credit, interest rate and liquidity risk. In 
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America (“GAAP“), these instruments are not recorded 
in the consolidated financial statements. Such instruments primarily include lending commitments. 
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Lending commitments include commitments to originate mortgage and consumer loans and commitments to fund unused lines 
of credit, The Bank also has contractual obligations related to operating leases. Additionally, the Bank has a contingent liability related to 
a standby letter of credit. The Bank has outstanding commitments and contractual obligations as follows: 

Commitments to originate mortgagc loans 
Commitments to originate commercial and consumer loans 
Lctters of credit 

Total 

March 3 1, 
2006 2005 

(Ilollars in thousands) 
$ 64,163 $ 44,129 

439 515 
1,795 1,908 

$66.397 $46552 

The following table presents the Bank’s contractual obligations at March 3 1,2006. 

Payments due by period 
Less than More than 

Contractual Obligations Total 1 year 1-3 years 3-5 years 5 years 
(In thousands) 

Long term debt obligations: 
FHI,B advances $ 80,935 $ 49,434 $ 31,307 $ -- $ 194 
Guaranteed preferred beneficial interest in 
junior subordinated dcbentures 12,857 -* _- 12.857 -- 

Total long term debt obligations 93,792 49,434 44,164 -- 194 

Operating lease obligations: 
Lease obligations for rental propcrties 4,452 657 1.338 1.227 1,230 

Total contractual obligations LY8,2* $5!uxg w- $1222- u 4 2 4  

Regulatory Capital Position 

see “Item I-Regulation and Supervision--Federal Banking Regulation--Capital Requirements.” 
The Bank must satisfy three minimum capital standards established by the OTS. For a description of the OTS capital regulation, 

The Bank presently exceeds all capital requirements as currently promulgated. At March 31, 2006, the Bank had tangible, core, 
and total risk-baed capital ratios of 9.4%, 9.4% and 13.2%, respectively and was considered well capitalized. 

The following table reconciles the Bank’s stockholders’ equity at March 31, 2006 under GAAP to regulatory capital 
requirements. 

Stockholders’ Equity at March 3 1,2006 ( I )  

Add: 
General valuation allowances 
Unrcalized loss on securities available-for-sale, net 

Regulatory Capital 
Minimum Capital rcquirernent 
Regulatory Capital Excess 

Regulatory Capital Requirements 
GAAP Tangible Leverage Risk-Based 
Capital Capital Capital Capital 

(Dollars in thousands) 
$ 61,814 $ 61,814 $ 61,814 $ 61,814 

-+ _- 4,015 
393 3 93 

62.207 62.207 
393 

66.222 
9.929 26,477 40,074 

%_52.2- %.5,73 s26.1411 

( I )  Reflects Bank only. 

Impact of Inflation and Changing Prices 

The financial statements and accompanying notes appearing elsewhere herein have been prepared in accordance with GAAP, 
which require the measurement of financial position and operating results in terms of historical dollars without considering the changes in 
the relative purchasing power of money over time due to inflation. The impact of inflation is reflected in the increased cost of Carver 
Federal’s operations. Unlike most industrial companies, nearly all the assets and liabilities of the Bank are monetary in nature. As a result, 
interest rates have a greater impact on Carver Federal’s performance than do the effects of the general level of inflation. Interest rates do 
not necessarily move in the same direction or to the same extent as the prices of goods and services. 
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KPMG U P  
345 Park Avenue 
NewYork. NY 10154 

Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm 

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders 
Carver Bancorp, Inc.: 

We have audited the accompanying consolidated statements of financial condition of Carver Bancorp, Knc. and subsidiaries as of 
March 31,2006 and 2005, and the related consolidated statements of income, changes in stockholders' equity and comprehensive income, 
and cash flows for each of the years in the three-yeat period ended March 31, 2006. These consolidated financial statements are the 
responsibility of the Company's management. Our responsibility i s  to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based 
on our audits. 

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). 
Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free 
of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial 
statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as 
evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for out opinion. 

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial 
position of Carver Bancorp Inc. and subsidiaries as of March 31, 2006 and 2005, and the results of their operations and their cash flows 
for each of the years in the three-year period ended March 3 1,2006, in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles. 

KPMG LLP 
June 29,2006 
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CARVER BANCORP, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES 
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION 

(In thousands, except share data) 

March 31,2006 March 31,2005 
ASSETS: 
Cash and cash equivalents: 

Cash and due from banks 
Federal funds sold 
Intcrest earning deposits 

Total cash and cash equivalents 

$ 13,604 $ 13,020 
8,700 6,800 

600 600 
22,904 20,420 

Sccuritics: 
Available-for-sale, at fair value (including pledged as collateral of 

$79,211 and $1 12,503 at March 3 1,2006 and 2005, respectively) 
Held-to-maturity, at amortiLed cost (including pledgcd as collateral of 

$26,039 and $30,900 at March 31, 2006 and 2005, respectively; 
fair value of $25,880 and $3 1,3 10 at March 3 1, 2006 and 2005, 
respectivcly) 

Total securities 

81 ,882 1 18,033 

26,404 31,302 
108,286 149,335 

Loans receivable: 
Real estate mortgage loans 
Consumer and cornmcrcial business loans 
Allowance for loan losses 

Total loans rcccivable, net 

Office properties and equipment, net 
Federal Home Loan Bank of New York stock, at cost 
Bank owned lifc insurance 
Accrued interest receivable 
Other assets 

Total assets 

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY 
Liabilities: 

Deposits 
Advances from the Federal Homc Loan Bank of New York and other 
borrowcd money 
Other liabilities 

Stockholders’ equity: 
Total liabilities 

Common stock (par value $0.01 per sharc: 10,000,000 shares 
authorized; 2,524,691 shares issued; 2,506,822 and 2,501,338 
outstanding at March 3 1,2006 and 2005, respectively) 

Additional paid-in capital 
Retained earnings 
Unamortized awards of  common stock under ESOP and management 

Treasury stock, at cost ( 1  7,869 and 23,353 shares at March 3 I ,  2006 and 2005, 

Accumulated other comprehensive loss 

Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity 

recognition plan (“MRP”) 

respectively) 

Total stockholders’ equity 

495,994 
1,453 

(4,015) 
493,432 

13,194 
4,627 
8,479 
2,970 
7,101 

k.660.993 

424,387 
1,697 

(4,097) 
421,987 

13,658 
5, I25 
8, I73 
2,702 
4.977 

$ 504,638 $ 455,870 

93,792 1 15,299 
13,866 

6 12,296 

25 
23,935 
25,736 

9,407 
580,576 

25 
23,937 
22,748 

(22) (254) 

(303) (420) 
(674) (235) 

48.697 45,801 - S. 626.377 

See accompanying notcs to consolidated financial statcments 
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CARVER BANCORP, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES 
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME 

(In thousands, except per share data) 

Interest Income: 
L,oans 
Mortgage-backed sccurities 
Investment securitics 
Federal funds sold 

‘I’otal intcrest income 

Interest expense: 
Deposits 
Advanccs and other borrowed money 

Total interest expense 

Net interest income 

Provision for loan losses 
Net interest income aRer provision for lwm losses 

Non-interest income: 
Depository fees and charges 
Loan fees and service charges 
Gain on sale of securities 
Impairment of securities 
Gain on sale of loans 
Gain on sale of fixed assets 
Grant incornc 
Other 

Total non-interest income 

Non-interest expensc: 
Employee compensation and benefits 
Net occupancy expense 
Equipment, net 
Merger related expcnses 
Othe,r 

Total non-interest expense 

Income before income taxcs 

Net income 
lncome taxes 

Dividends applicable to preferred stock 
Net income available to common stockholders 

Earnings per common share: 
Ilasic 
Diluted 

For the Year Ended March 31, 
2006 2005 2004 

$ 26,563 $ 22,940 $ 20.1 I7 
4,439 4,605 4.789 

97 1 827 1,161 
412 I74 I67 

32,385 28,546 26.234 

8,92 I 5,455 4,649 
4.572 4,303 4,051 

13,493 9,758 8.700 

18.892 18,788 17,534 

.._ -* -- 
18.892 18,788 17,534 

2,458 2,2 12 1,925 
2,23 1 1,868 2,607 

I- 94 31 
-_ ( I  ,547) -- 

35 1 84 I I6 
2 

_- 1,140 _- 
301 224 597 

5,341 4,075 5,278 

-- -_ 

9,512 9,46 1 7,587 
2,284 1.957 1,443 
1,939 1 .BO8 1,486 

-- 847 -.. 
5.399 4,823 4.964 

19,134 18,696 15,480 

5,099 4,167 7,332 
1.329 1.518 2,493 
3.770 2,649 4,839 

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements. 
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CARVER BGNCORF’, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES 
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY AND COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 

(In thousands) 
Accumulated Common Common 

Other Stock Stock 
Additional Comprehen- Acquired Acquired Total Stock - 

Holders’ 
Stock Stock Capital Earnings Stock (Loss) ESOP MRP Equity 

Preferred Common Paid-In Retained Treasury sive Income by bY 

Balance - March 31,2003 S 1 S 23 S 23,781 S 16,712 S (190) S 750 -- S (4) $ 41,073 
comprehensive income 
Net income ._ -. 

Change in nct unrealized gain 
_- 4,839 -- _ _  _ _  _ _  4,839 

on available-for-sale 
securities, net of taxes _- (492) _ _  _ _  _ _  __ _- __ - -- -- -- 

Comprehensive income, net of 

_ _  (659) Dividcnds paid _ _  _ _  
Purchase of treasury stock _ _  _. 82 _ _  

-_ _ _  19 _ _  Purchdse of 5hares for MKP 
Balance - March 31,2004 1 23 23,882 20,892 
Comprehenwe income 
Net income _- _ _  _ _  2,649 
Change in net unrealized gain 

taxes 

~ - - -  

on available-for-sale 
securities, nct of taxes __ .. _ _  _ _  

Cornprehcnsive income, net of 

Dividends paid 
Preferred stock redemption 
Treasury stock activity 
Allocation of ESOP Stock 
Purchase of shares for MRP 
Balance--March 31,2005 
Comprehensive income 
Net income 
Loss on pension liability 
Change in net unrealized loss on 

available-for-sale securitics, 
net of taxa  

taxes: 

-- (158) -- 

Comprehensive income, net of 

_ _  (782) Dividends paid _. .. 

(2)  Treasury stock activity _ _  _ _  
Allocation of ESOP Stock _ _  _ _  _- 

taxes: 3,331 

_- _ _  11s 
-_ 1 l h  

”_ (782) _ _  _ _  _- 
-. I17 _ _  

_I .. 

Balance-March 31,2006 

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements. 

34 



CARVER BANCORP, INC. AND SUBSLDlARIES CONSOLLDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS 
(Dollars in thousands) 

Year Ended March 31, 
2006 - 2005 2004 

Cash flows froin opcrating activitics 
Net income 
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cdsh 

providcd by operating activities. 
Provision for loan losses 
ESOP and M W  expenw 
Depreciation expense 
Amortization of intangiblcs 
Other amortization 
Impairment charge on securitics 
Gain from sale of sccurities 
Gain on sale of loans 

Changes i n  assets and liabilities: 
Proceeds froin loans sold 

(Incrcase) decrease in accrued interest rcceivable 
(Increase) dccrease in other assets 
Increase (dccrcase) in other liabilities 

Net cash providcd by operating activities 

Cash flows from investing activities: 
Purchase of securitics: 

Available-for-sale 
Held-to-maturity 

calls of securities: 
Available-for-sale 
Held-to-maturity 

Proceeds from principal payments, maturities and 

Proceeds from sales of availablc-for-sale securitics 
Disbursements for loan originations 
I,oans purchased from third parties 
Principal collections on loans 
Redemption (purchase) of FHLB-NY stock 
Additions to premises and equipment 

Net cash used in investing activities 

Cash flows from financing activities: 
Net increasc in deposits 
Net (repayment of)/proceeds from FHLB advances 

Common stock rcpurchased 
Dividends paid 

and other borrowed money 

Net cash provided by financing activitics 

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalcnts 
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the year 
Cash and cash equivalents at end of thc year 

Supplemental information: 
Noncash Transfers- 

Change in unrcalized loss on valuation of 
available- for-& invcstrnents, net 

Cash paid for- 
Interest 
income taxcs 

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements. 
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$ 3.770 

-- 
233 

1.546 

863 
-- 

_- 
-- 

(351) 

22,908 
(268) 

(2.430) 
4,240 

30.520 

(26,X I 1 ) 
(19) 

60.645 
4 3  16 
1,575 

( 1  11,349) 
(96,140 j 
I 13,468 

498 
( 1.082 j 

(54.400) 

48,768 

(2 1,507) 
( 1  15) 
(782) 

26,364 

2,484 
20.420 

s 22.904 

$ (158) 

$ 13,502 
L 2,142 

$ 2,649 

-- 
358 

1,423 

1,502 
1.547 

(94) 
(277) 

8,404 
(213) 

(7,618) 
(4,452) 
3.229 

-- 

(83,219) 
-- 

51.383 
1 1,990 
7,288 

(85,801 j 
(104,734) 
112,518 

(549) 
( 3,399) 

(94,517) 

79,789 

10,959 
(1,021) 

(793 j 
88.934 

(2,354) 
22,774 

r S 2 0 4 2 0  

$ (493) 

$ 9,718 u 

$ 4.839 

-- 
128 

1.146 
178 

1.848 
_- 

(31) 
(116) 

9,590 
857 

4,478 
3,481 

26.398 

(58,477) 
( 19.859 j 

65,060 
12,693 
23,902 

(87,140) 
(93,694) 
11 1,821 

864 
(2.779) 

(47,609) 

26,501 

(4,714) 
(303) 

(659) 
20,825 

(386) 

u 23.160 

$ (492) 

$ 8,739 
L==&a 



CARVER BANCORP, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES 

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

NOTE 1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

Nature of operations 

Carver Bancorp, Inc. (on a stand-alone basis, thc “Holding Company” or “Registrant”), was incorporated in May 1996 and 
its principal wholly owned subsidiary is Carver Federal Savings Bank (the “Bank” or “Carver Federal”). Carver Statutory Trust 1 (the 
“Trust”) is another wholly owned subsidiary of the Holding Company. The Trust, which was formed in September 2003, exists for the 
sole purpose of issuing trust preferred debt securities and investing the proceeds in an equivalent amount of subordinated debentures 
of the Holding Company. CFSB Realty Corp., CFSB Credit Corp. and Carver Community Development Corp. are wholly owned 
subsidiaries of the Rank. CFSB Credit Corp. is currently inactive. The Bank owns a majority interest in Carver Asset Corporation, a 
real estate investment trust formed in February 2004. The Bank was chartered in 1948 and began operations in 1949 as Carver Federal 
Savings and Loan Association, a federally chartered mutual savings and loan association. The Bank converted to a federal savings 
bank in 1986 and changed its name at that time. On October 24, 1994, the Rank converted from mutual to stock form and issued 
2,314,275 shares of its common stock, par value $0.01 per sharc. On October 17, 1996, the Bank completed its reorganization into a 
holding company structure (the “Reorganization”) and became a wholly owned subsidiary of the IIolding Company. In connection 
with the Reorganization, each share of the Bank’s outstanding common stock was exchanged for one share of the Holding Company’s 
common stock, par value $0.01 per share. On January 1 I ,  2000, the Holding Company sold in a private placement, pursuant to a 
Securities Purchase Agreement dated January 1 I ,  2000, 40,000 shares of Serics A Convertible Preferred Stock (the “Scries A 
Preferred Stock”) to Morgan Stanley & Co. lncorporated (“MSDW’) and 60,000 Shares of Series B Convertible Preferred Stock (the 
“Series B Preferred Stock”) to Provender Opportunities Fund L.P. (“Provender”). On June I ,  2004, Provender sold all 60,000 of its 
Series B Preferred Stock to Keefe Bruyette & Woods, Inc (“KBW”). On October 15, 2004, both MSDW and KBW elected to convert 
their Preferred Shares into shares of Holding Company’s common stock, thus an additional 208,333 shares of common stock were 
issued to these parties. See Note 1 1  of Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements. Collectively, the Holding Company, the Bank 
and the Holding Company’s other direct and indirect subsidiaries are rcferred to horein as the “Company” or “Carver.” 

Carver Federal’s principal business consists of attracting deposit accounts through its branch ofices and investing those 
funds in mortgage loans and other investments permitted by federal savings banks. The Bank has eight branch offices located 
throughout the City of New York that primarily serve the communities in which they operate. 

Basis of consolidated financial statement presentation 

The consolidatcd financial statements include the accounts of the Holding Compdny, Carver Statutory Trust I, the Bank and 
the Bank’s wholly owned or majority owned subsidiaries, Carver Asset Corporation, CFSB Realty Corp. and CFSB Credit Corp. All 
significant intercompany accounts and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation. 

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the 
United States of America. In preparing the consolidated financial statements, management is required to make estimates and 
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities as ofthe date of the consolidated statement of tinancial condition 
and revenues and expenses for the period then ended. Estimates that are particularly susceptible to significant changes in the near- 
term relate to prepayment assumptions on mortgagc-backed securities and mortgage loans, the deturmination of the allowance for 
loan losses and, if applicable, the valuation of real estate owned. Actual results could differ significantly from those estimates. 

Management believes that prepayment assumptions on mortgage-backed securities and mortgage loans are appropriate and 
the allowance for loan losses is adequate. While management uses available information to recognize losses on loans, future additions 
to the allowance for loan losses or future write downs of real estate owned may be necessary based on changes in economic 
conditions in the areas where Carver Federal had extended mortgages and other credit instruments. 

In addition, the Office of Thrift supervision (“OTS”) our regulator, as an integral part of its examination process, 
periodically reviews Carver Federal’s allowance for loan losses and, if applicable, real estate owned valuations. The OTS may require 
Carver Federal to recognize additions to the allowance for loan losses or additional write downs of real estate owned based on their 
judgments about information available to them at the time of their examination. 
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Cash and cash equivalents 

Cash and cash equivalents include cash and amounts due from depository institutions and federal funds sold which are 
generally sold for one-day periods. The amounts due from depository institutions include a non-interest bearing account held at the 
Federal Rescrve Bank (“FRB”) where any additional cash reserve required on demand deposits would be maintained. Currently, this 
reserve requirement is zero since the Bank’s vault cash satisfies cash reserve requirements for deposits. 

Securities 

The Bank docs not have trading securities but does differentiatc between held-to-maturity securities and available-for-sale 
securities. When purchased. securities are designated in either thc securities held-to-maturity portfolio or securities available-for-sale 
portfolio. Securities should be classified as held-to-maturity and carried at amortixd cost only if the Bank has a positive intent and 
ability to hold such securities to maturity. If not classified as held-to-maturity, such securities are classified as securities available-for- 
sale dcmonstrating management’s ability to sell in response to actual or anticipated changes in interest rates and resulting prepayment 
risk or any othcr factors. Available-for-sale securities are reported at fair value. llnrealized holding gains or losses for securities 
available-for-sale are to be excluded from earnings and reported net of deferred income taxes as a separate component of accumulated 
other comprehensive (loss) income, a component of Stockholders’ Equity. Any impairment in the available-for-sale securities deemed 
other-than-temporary, is written down against the cost basis and charged to earnings. No impairment charge was recorded for fiscal 
2006, however, during fiscal 2005 Carver recorded a $1.5 inillion charge to earnings for impairment in available-for-sale securities 
deemed other-than-temporary on the 150,000 shares of Independence Federal Savings Bank common stock (“IFSB”) that it held in 
portfolio. 

Securities held-to-maturity are carried at cost, adjusted for the amortization of premiums and the accretion of discounts 
using the level-yield method over the remaining period until maturity. 

Gains or losses on sales of securities of all classifications are recognized based on thc specific identification mcthod. 

Loans Receivable 

Loans receivable are carried at unpaid principal balances plus unamortized premiums and certain deferred direct loan 
origination costs, less the allowance for loan losses and deferred loan fees and discounts. 

The Bank defers loan origination fees and certain direct loan origination costs and accretes such amounts as an adjustment of 
yield over the cxpected lives of the related loans using methodologies which approximate the interest method. Premiums and 
discounts on loans purchased are amortized or accreted as an adjustment of yield over the contractual lives, adjusted for prepayments 
when applicable, of the related loans using methodologies which approximate the interest method. 

Loans are generally placed on non-accrual status when they are past due 90 days or more as to contractual obligations or 
when other circumstances indicate that collection is questionable. When a loan is placed on non-accrual status, any intercst accrued 
but not received is reversed against interest income. Payments received on a non-accrual loan are either applied to the outstanding 
principal balance or recorded as interest income, depending on an assessment of the ability to collect the loan. A non-accrual loan is 
restored to accrual status when principal and interest payments become less than 90 days past due and its future collectibility is 
reasonably assured. 

Allowance for Loan Losses 

An allowance for loan losses is maintained at a level considered adequate to provide for potential loan losses. Management 
is responsible for detennining the adequacy of the allowance for loan losses and the periodic provisioning for estimated losses 
included in the consolidated financial statements. The evaluation proccss is undertaken on a quarterly basis, but may increase in 
frequency should conditions arise that would require management’s prompt attention, such as business combinations and 
opportunities to dispose of non-performing and marginally performing loans by bulk sale or any development which may indicate an 
adverse trend. 

Carver Federal maintains a loan review system, which allows for a periodic review of its loan portfolio and the early 
identification of potential problem loans. Such system takes into consideration, among other things, delinquency status, size of loans, 
type of collateral and financial condition of the borrowers. Loan loss allowances are established for problem loans based on a review 
of such information and/or appraisals of the underlying collateral. On the remainder of its loan portfolio, loan loss allowances are 
based upon a combination of factors including, but not limited to, actual loan loss experience, composition of loan portfolio, current 
economic conditions and management’s judgment. Although management believes that adequate loan loss allowances have been 
established, actual losses are dependent upon future events and, as such, further additions to the level of the loan loss allowance may 
be necessary in the future. 

The methodology employed for assessing the appropriateness of the allowance consists of the following criteria: 
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Establishment of reserve amounts for all specifically identified criticized loans that have been designated as 
requiring attention by management’s internal loan review program, bank regulatory examinations or the external 
auditors. 

An average loss factor, giving effect to historical loss experience over several years and linked to cyclical trends, is 
applied to smaller balance homogenous types of loans not subject to specific review. These loans include 
residential one- to four-family, multifamily, nonresidential and construction loans and also include consumer and 
business loans. 

Recognition is also given to the changed risk profile brought about by business combinations, customer knowledge, the 
results of ongoing credit quality monitoring processes and the cyclical nature of economic and business conditions. An important 
consideration in applying these methodologies is the concentration of real estate related loans locatcd in the New York City 
metropolitan area. 

The initial allocation or specific-allowance methodology commences with loan officers and underwriters grading the quality 
of their loans on a nine-category risk classification scale. Loans identified from this process as below investment grade are referred to 
the Internal Asset Review Committee for further analysis and identification of those factors that may ultimately affect the full 
recovery or collectibility of principal and/or interest. These loans are subject to continuous review and monitoring while they remain 
in the criticized category. Additionally, the Internal Asset Review Committee is responsible for performing periodic reviews of the 
loan portfolio that are independent from the identification process employed by loan officers and Underwriters. Gradings that fall into 
criticized categories are further evaluated and reserve amounts, if necessary, are established for each loan. 

The second allocation or loss factor approach to common or homogeneous loans is made by applying the average loss factor 
based on several years of loss experience to the outstanding balances in each loan category. It gives recognition to the loss experience 
of acquired businesses, business cycle changes and the real estate components of loans. Since many loans depend upon the 
sufficiency of collateral, any adverse trend in the real estate markets could seriously affect underlying values available to protect 
against loss. 

Other evidence used to support the amount of the allowance and its components are as follows: 

Regulatory examinations 

Actual losses 

a 

Amount and trend of criticized loans 

Peer comparisons with other financial institutions 

Economic data associated with the real estate market in the Company’s market area 

Opportunities to dispose of marginally performing loans for cash consideration 

A loan is considered to be impaired, as defined by Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (“SFAS”) No. 114, 
‘jlccounting hy Creditorsfor Impuirment of a Loan” (“SFAS 114”), when it is probable that Carver Federal will be unable to collect 
all principal and interest amounts due according to the contractual terms of the loan agreement. Carver Federal tests loans covered 
under SFAS 114 for impairment if they are on non-accrual status or have been restructured. Consumer credit non-accrual loans are 
not tested for impairment because they are included in large groups of smaller-balance homogeneous loans that, by definition along 
with leases, are excluded from the scope of SFAS 114. Impaired loans are required to be measured based upon the present value of 
expected future cash flows, discounted at the loan’s initial effective interest rate, or at the loan’s market price or fair value of the 
collateral if the loan is collateral dependent. If the loan valuation is less than the recorded value of the loan, an impairment reserve 
must be established for the difference. The impairment reserve is established by either an allocation of the reserve for credit losses or 
by a provision for credit losses, depending on various circumstances. Impairment reserves are not needed when credit losses have 
been recorded so that the recorded investment in an impaired loan i s  less than the loan valuation. 

Concentration of Risk 

The Bank’s principal lcnding activities are concentrated in loans secured by real estate, a substantial portion of which is 
located in the State of New York. Accordingly, the ultimatc collectibility of a substantial portion of the Company’s loan portfolio is 
susceptible to changes in New York’s real estate market conditions. 
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Premises and Equipment 

Premises and equipment are comprised of land, at cost, and buildings, building improvements, furnishings and equipment 
and leasehold improvements, at cost, less accumulated depreciation and amortization. Depreciation and amortization charges are 
computed using the straight-line method over the following estimated useful lives: 

Buildings and improvements I O  to 25 years 
Furnishings and equipment 3 to 5 years 
Leasehold improvements Lesser of useful life or remaining term of lease 

Maintenance, repairs and minor improvements are charged to non-interest expense in the period incurred. 

Bank Owned Life Insurance 

Bank Owned Life lnsurance (“BOLI”) is carried at its cash surrender value on the balance sheet and is classified as a non- 
intercst-earning asset. Death benefits proceeds received in excess of the policy’s cash surrender value are recognized to income. 
Returns on the BOLI assets are added to the carrying value and included as non-interest income in the consolidated statement of 
operations. Any receipt of benefit proceeds is recorded as a reduction to the carrying value of the BOLI asset. At March 31, 2006, 
Carver held no policy loans against its BOLI cash surrender values or restrictions on the use of the proceeds. 

Mortgage Servicing Rights 

Mortgage servicing rights (‘‘MSR’) on mortgage loans are recognized at the sale of mortgage loans where servicing rights 
are retained. At recognition, this asset is recorded onto the balance sheet as a non-interest-earning asset. The initial recognition of 
MSR is based on the fair value of total estimated income from the servicing of these loans. The asset is then amortized over the 
estimated life of the serviced loans. 

Real Estate Owned 

Real estate acquired by foreclosure or deed in lieu of foreclosure is recorded at the fair value at the date of acquisition and 
thereafter carried at the lower of cost or fair value less estimated selling costs. The fair value of such assets is determined based 
primarily upon independent appraisals and other relevant factors. The amounts ultimately recoverable from real estate owned could 
differ from the net carrying value of these properties because of economic conditions. 

Costs incurred to improve properties or prepare them for sale are capitalized. Revenues and expenses related to the holding 
and operating of properties are recognized in operations as earned or incurred. Gains or losses on sale of properties are recognized as 
incurred. At March 3 1, 2006, the Bank had no foreclosed real estate, however as a result of a property tax redemption, the Bank took 
fee ownership of a vacant tract of land in Bayshore, NY with a carrying amount of $10,000 and is included with other assets on the 
statement of condition. 

Identifiable Intangible Assets 

Carver Federal adopted Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No.142 (“SFAS No. 142”), “Goodwill and Other 
Intangible AssetLv” on January 1 ,  2002. SFAS 142 requires that goodwill and intangible assets with indefinite useful lives no longer be 
amortized, but instead tested for impairment at least annually. 

Identifiable intangible assets relate primarily to core deposit premiums, resulting from the valuation of core deposit 
intangibles acquired in the purchase of branch offices. These identifiable intangible assets are amortized using the straight-line 
method over periods not exceeding the estimated average remaining life of the existing customer deposits acquired. Amortization 
periods range from 5 to 15 years. Amortization periods for intangible assets are monitored to determine if events and circumstances 
require such periods to be reduced. 

At March 3 1,2006 Carver had no goodwill or identifiable intangible assets on its books. 

Income Taxes 

Carver Federal accounts for income taxes using the asset and liability method. Temporary differences between the basis of 
assets and liabilities for financial reporting and tax purposes are measured as of the balance sheet date. Deferred tax liabilities or 
recognizable deferred tax assets are calculated on such differences, using current statutory rates, which result in future taxable or 
deductible amounts. The effect on deferred taxes of a change in tax rates is recognized in income in the period that includes the 
enactment date. 
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Impairment 

The Company annually evaluates long-lived assets, certain identifiable intangibles, deferred costs for indication of 
impairment in value. There was no impairment on these assets for the past three years and when required, asset impairment will be 
recorded as an expense in the current period. 

Earnings (loss) per Common Share 

Basic earnings per share (“EPS’) is computed by dividing income available to common stockholders by the weighted- 
average number of common shares outstanding. Diluted EPS includes any additional common shares as if all potentially dilutive 
common shares were issued (e.g. outstanding share awards under the Company’s stock option plan). For the purpose of these 
calculations, unreleased shares of the Carver Federal Savings Bank Employee Stock Ownership Plan (“ESOP”) are not considered to 
be outstanding. 

Treasury Stock 

Treasury stock is recorded at cost and is presented as a reduction of stockholders’ equity. 

Pension Plans 

In February 1998, the FASB issued SFAS No. 132, “Employers’ Disclosures about Pensions and Other Postretirement 
Bene$ts” (“SFAS 132”). SFAS 132 revises employers’ disclosures about pension and other postretirement benefit plans. It does not 
change the measurement or recognition of those plans. 

Stock-Based Compensation Plans 

Compensation expense is recognized for the Bank’s ESOP equal to the fair value of shares committed to be released for 
allocation to participant accounts. Any difference between the fair value at that time and the ESOP’s original acquisition cost is 
charged or credited to stockholders’ equity (additional paid-in capital). The cost of unallocated ESOP shares (shares not yet 
committed to be released) is reflected as a reduction of stockholders’ equity. 

The Holding Company grants “incentive stock options” only to its employees and grants “nonqualified stock options” to 
employees and non-employee directors. Under Accounting Principle Board Opinion (“APB”) No. 25 ‘&Accounting for Shdc Issued to 
Employees”, no compensation expense is recognized if the exercise price of the option is greater than or equal to the fair market value 
of the underlying stock on the date of grant. In December 2004, the FASB issued a revised Statement of Financial Accounting 
Standards No. 123 “Accounting jbr Stock-Based Compensation, Share Based Payment”, (“SFAS 123R”) which requires that 
compensation cost relating to share-based payment transactions be recognized in the financial statements. The associated costs will be 
measured based on the fair value of the equity instruments issued. SFAS 123R covers a wide range of share-based compensation 
arrangements including share options, restricted share plans, performance-based awards, share appreciation rights and employee share 
purchase plans. SFAS 123R is effective as of the first annual reporting period beginning after June 15, 2005. Carver Federal will 
adopt SFAS 123R as of April 1,2006. 

The Holding Company’s management recognition and retention plan (“MRP”) is also accounted for in accordance with APB 
Opinion No. 25. The fair value of the shares awarded, measured at the grant date, is recognized as unearned compensation (a 
deduction from stockholders’ equity) and amortized to compensation expense as the shares become vested. When MRP shares 
become vested, the Company records a credit to additional paid-in capital for tax benefits attributable to any MRP deductions in 
excess of the grant-date fair value charged to expense, for financial reporting purposes. 

Carver Federal applies APB Opinion No. 25, “Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees,’’ and related interpretations in 
accounting for our stock-based Plan under which there is no charge to earnings for stock option awards and the dilutive effect of 
outstanding options is reflected as additional share dilution in the computation of earnings per share. 
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The following table illustrates net income and earnings per common share pro forma results with the application of SFAS 
123R for Carver’s Stock Option Plan, for the years ended March 3 1 : 

2006 2005 2004 
(Dollars in thousands, except per share data) 

Net Income available to common shareholders: 
As reported $3,770 $ 2,535 $ 4,642 

Tote1 stock-based employee compensation expense 
determined under fair value hascd methods for all awards, 
net ofrelated tax effects (105) (124) A) 

Pro forma Q!ia $2411 $4984 

13asic earnings per share: 
As reported 
Pro forma 

$ 1.50 $ 1.06 $ 2.03 
I .46 1.01 1.96 

Diluted earnings per share: 
As reporled 
Pro forma 

$ 1.47 $ 1.03 $ 1.87 
I .43 0.98 1.81 

Weighted average number of shares outstanding 2,506.029 2,38 1.980 2.283.802 

The fair value of the option grants was estimated on the date of the grant using the Black-Scholes option pricing model 
applying the following weighted average assumptions: risk-free interest rates of 4.50%, 3.50% and 2.50%, for the relevant fiscal years 
ended March 31,2006,2005 and 2004 (“fiscal 2006”, “fiscal 2005” and “fiscal 2004”), respectively; volatility of 19% for fiscal 2006 
and 35% fiscal 2005 and 45% fiscal 2004; expected dividend yield was calculated using annual dividends of $0.32 per share for fiscal 
2006, $0.28 for fiscal 2005 and $0.20 for fiscal 2004; and an expected life of seven years for employees and directors option grants. 

Reclassifications 

Certain amounts in the consolidated financial statements presented for prior years have been reclassified to conform to the 
current year presentation. 

NOTE 2. SECURITIES 

The following is a summary of securities at March 3 1,2006: 

Availa ble-for-Sale: 
Mortgage-hacked securitics: 

Pass-through certificates: 
Govcrnment National Mortgagc Association 
Federal Home Loan Mortgage Corporation 
Federal National Mortgage Association 

Total mortgage-backed sccurities 
U.S. Governmcnt Agency Securities 
Total available-for-sale 

Held-To-Maturity : 
Mortgage-backed securities: 

Pass-through certificates: 
Government National Mortgage Association 
Fedcral 1 loine Loan Mortgage Corporation 
Federal National Mortgage Association 
Small Business Administration 

Total held-to-maturity 
Total securities 

Gross Unrealized 
Estimated 

cost Gains Losses Fair-Value 
Amortized 

(In thousands) 

$ 63,49Y $ 48 $ (540) $ 63,007 
2,229 8 (28) 2,209 
4,696 3 2) 4,589 

70,424 59 (678) 69,805 
12,386 -- 2) 12.077 
82,8 10 59 (987) 8 1.882 

809 36 -- 845 
17.372 15 (500) 16,887 
7.900 34 (107) 7,827 

323 *_ 2) 32 1 
26,404 85 (609) 25,880 
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The following is a summary of securities at March 3 1,2005: 

Gross Unrealized 
Amortized Estimated 

cost Gains Losses Fair-Value 
(In thousands) 

Availa ble-for-Sale: 
Mortgage-backcd securities: 

Pass-through certificates: 
Governmcnt National Mortgage Association $ 83,861 $ 98 $ (534) $ 83,425 
Federal Home Loan Mortgage Corporation 3,922 14 (28) 3,908 
bedera1 National Mortgage Association 8.247 17 ( I  IS) 8,149 

Total mortgage-backcd securities 96,030 129 (677) 95,482 
Equity Securities 1,575 -- -- 1,575 
1J.S. Government Agcncy Securities 21.144 -_ (168) 20,976 

Total available-for-sale I 18.749 129 ( 845) 1 18,033 

Held-to-Maturity : 
Mortgage-backed sccurities: 

Pass-through certificates: 
Ciovernmcnt National Mortgage Association 1,070 59 -- 1,129 
Federal Home Loan Mortgage Corporation 19,115 32 (71) 19,076 
Federal National Mortgage Association 10,780 110 (120) 10,770 
Small hsincss Administration 337 -_ (2) 335 

Total held-to-maturity 3 1,302 20 1 ( 193) 31.310 
Total securities & l5O.OA $ 3 3  K- (l,O!) L- 149&!3 

The net unrealized loss on available-for-sale securities was $928,000 ($575,000 after taxes) at March 31,2006 and $716,000 
($444,000 after taxes) at March 31, 2005. On November 30, 2002 the Bank transferred $22.8 million of mortgage-backed securities 
from available-for-sale to held-to-maturity as a result of management’s intention to hold these securities in portfolio until maturity. A 
related unrealized gain of $468,000 was recorded as a separate component of stockholders’ equity and is being amortized aver the 
remaining lives of the securities as an adjustment to yield. As of March 31, 2006 the carrying value of these securities was $16.0 
million and a related net unrealized gain of $183,000 continues to be reported. Changes in unrealized holding gains and losses 
between fiscal 2006 and fiscal 2005 resulted in an after-tax decrease in stockholders’ equity of $158,000. These gains and losses will 
continue to fluctuate based on changes in the portfolio and market conditions. 

There were no gains or losses resulting from the sale of available-for-sale securities in fiscal 2006. In fiscal 2005, an other- 
than-temporary impairmcnt charge related to the investment in IFSB common stock was recorded and was subsequently sold in fiscal 
2006. Additionally, sales of available-for-sale securities in fiscal 2005 and 2004 resulted in gross realized gains o f  $94,000 and 
$3 1,000, respectively. 

At March 31, 2006 the Bank pledged securities of $38.3 million as collateral for advances from the Federal Home Loan 
Bank o f  New York (“FlILB-NU”). 

The following is a summary of the carrying value (amortized cost) and fair value of securities at March 31, 2006, by 
remaining period to contractual maturity (ignoring earlier call dates, if any). Actual maturities may differ from contractual maturities 
because certain security issuers have the right to call or prepay their obligations. 

Weighted 
Book Value Fair Value Average Rate 

(Dollars in thousands) 
Availa ble-for-Sale: 
Less than one ycar 
One through five years 
Five through ten years 
After ten years 

Held-to-maturity: 
One through five years 
After ten years 
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$ 2,000 $ 1,982 2.43% 
10,687 10,398 3.92% 

1,524 I ,47 I 4.53% 
68,599 68,03 1 - 3.78% 

li 82.814 L2JJiB2 U Y i J  

$ 50 $ 50 5.69% 
26.354 25.830 - 5.65% 
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...... 

The unrealized losses and fair value of securities in an unrealized loss position at March 31, 2006 for less than 12 months 
and 12 months or longer wcre as follows: 

Less than 12 months 
Unrealized Fair 

Losses Value 

Availa ble-for-Sale: 
Mortgage-backed securities $ (152) $ 19,051 
1J.S. Governrncnt Agency Securities (141) ~ 5.725 

I’otal available-for-sale (293) 24,776 

Held-to-Maturity : 
Mortgage-backed sccuri ties (502) 16.777 

Total securities 
$23) &!!?w 

12 months or longer 
Unrealized Fair 

Losses Value 
(In thousands) 

$ (526) $39,795 
3) 6,352 

(694) 46,147 

Total 
Unrealized Fair 

Losses Value 

$ (678) $58.846 
(309) 12,077 

(987) 70,923 

(609) 23.001 
$-) u3.924 

The unrealized losses and fair value of securities in an unrealized loss position at March 31, 2005 for less than 12 months 
and 12 months or longer wcre as follows: 

Less than 12 months 
Unrealized Fair 

Losses Value 

Avails ble-for-Sale: 
Mortgage-hacked securities $ (225) $ 42,625 
1J.S. Govcrnment Agency Securitics (168) 20,976 
Total available-for-sale (393) 63.601 

Held-to-Maturity : 
Mortgage-backed securities 
Total securitics 

- 12 months or longer 
Unrealized Fair Unrealized Fair 

Losses Value Losses Value 

Total 

(In thousands) 

$ (452) $27.522 $ (677) $ 70,147 
-- (168) 20.976 

(452) 27,522 (845) 91,123 
_ _  

A total of 46 securities had an unrealized loss at March 31,2006 compared to 33 at March 31,2005. Based on estimated fair 
value, all the securities in an unrealized loss position were United States government agency-backed securities, which represents 
86.7% and 68.8% of total securities at March 3 I ,  2006 and 2005, respectively. The cause of the temporary impairment is directly 
related to the change in interest rates. In general, as interest rates rise, the fair value of securities will decline, and conversely as 
interest rates decline, the fair value of securities will incrcase. Management considers fluctuations in fair value as a result of interest 
rate changes to be temporary, which is consistent with the Bank’s experience. The impairments are deemed temporary based on the 
direct relationship of the decline in fair value to movements in interest rates, the life of the investments and their high credit quality. 

NOTE 3. LOANS RECEIVABLE, NET 

A summary of loans receivable, net follows: 

March 31, 
2006 2005 

Amount Percent Amount Percent 

Real estate loans: 
One- to four-family 
Multifamily 
Nonrcsidential 
Construction 

Consumer and business 
Total gross loans 

(Doliars in thousands) 

$ 143,433 28.91% $ 155,797 36.69% 
104,718 21.1 I I O  1,899 23.99 
154,044 31.05 1 16,769 27.49 
92,s I I 18.64 48,579 11.43 

1,453 0.29 1.697 0.40 
496,159 A.c)JQ% 424,74 1 J Y , ~ %  
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Add: 
Premium on loans 
Less: 
Deferred fces and loan discounts 
Allowance for loan Losses 
Total 

1,890 

(602) 

%493.432 
(4.01 5 )  

1,743 

(400) 

%421981 
(4.097) 

At March 31,2006, 82.3% of the Company’s real estate loans receivable was principally secured by properties located in the 
State of New York. 

The mortgage loan portfolios serviced for Federal National Mortgage Association (“FNMA”) and other third parties are not 
included in the accompanying consolidated financial statements. The unpaid principal balances of these loans aggregated $33.2 
million, $17.9 million and $ 1  1.7 million at March 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004, respectively. Custodial escrow balances, maintained in 
connection with the above-mentioned loan servicing, were approximately $1 14,000, $56,000 and $40,000 at March 3 I ,  2006, 2005 
and 2004, respectively. During the year ended March 31, 2006 the Bank sold $22.5 million in loans with a recognized gain of 
$1 58,000, as compared to $8.0 million in loans sold during fiscal 2005 with an $84,000 gain recognized. Also recognized from these 
loan sales were gains of $193,000 for both fiscal 2006 and 2005 from other mortgage servicing rights since the loans were sold with 
servicing retained. 

At March 31, 2006 the Bank pledged $141.8 million in total mortgage loans as collateral for borrowings from the FHLB- 
NY. 

The following is an analysis of the allowance for loan losses: 

Balance at beginning of the year 
Provision charged to operations 
Recoveries of amounts previously charged-off 
C harge-offs of loans 
Balance at end of the year 

Year ended March 31, 
2006 2005 2004 

$ 4,097 $ 4,125 $ 4,158 

35 45 292 
(117) (73) (325) 
$.4,015 $ 4,097 $ 4.125 

-- -- -- 

Non-accrual loans consist of loans for which the accrual of interest has been discounted as a result of such loans becoming 
90 days or more delinquent as to principal and/or interest payments. Interest income on non-accrual loans is recorded when received. 
Restructured loans consist of loans where borrowers have been granted concessions in regards to the terms of their loans due to 
financial or other difficulties, which rendered them unable to repay their loans under the original contractual terms. 

At March 3 1,  2006, 2005 and 2004 the recorded investment in impaired loans was $2.8 million, $998,000 and $2.1 million, 
respectively, all of which represented non-accrual loans. The related allowance for credit losses was approximately $276,000, 
$160,000 and $317,000 at March 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004, respectively. The impaired loan portfolio is primarily collateral 
dependent. The average recorded investment in impaired loans during the fiscal years ended March 3 I ,  2006, 2005 and 2004 was 
approximately $2.2 million, $1.6 million and $2.0 million, respectively. For the fiscal years ended March 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004, 
the Company did not recognize any interest income on these impaired loans. Interest income of $79,000, $83,000 and $185,000, 
respectively, for the fiscal years ended March 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004 would have been recorded on impaired loans had they 
performed in accordance with their original terms. 

At March 3 1,2006,2005 and 2004, there were no loans to officers or directors. 
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NOTE 4. PREMISES AND EQUIPMENT, NET 

The detail of premises and equipment is as follows: 

March 31, 
2006 2005 

(In thousands) 

Land 
Building and improvements 
Leasehold improvements 
Furniture and Equipment 

Less accumulated depreciation and amortization 

$ 415 $ 415 
9.391 9,195 
4,404 3,939 
8,367 7.734 

22,577 2 1,283 
9.383 7,625 

~. $ 13!194 $13.658 

Depreciation and amortization charged to operations for the fiscal years ended March 3 I ,  2006, 2005 and 2004 
amounted to $1.5 million, $1.4 million and $1.1 million, respectively. 

NOTE 5. ACCRUED INTEREST RECEIVABLE 

The detail of accrued interest receivable is as follows: 

March 31. 

Loans receivable 
Mortgage-backed securities 
Investments and other interest bearing assets 
Total accrued interest receivable 

2006 2005 
(In thousands) 

$ 2,300 $ 1,895 
482 576 
188 23 1 

Q.970 $_La2 

NOTE 6. DEPOSITS 

Deposit balances and weighted average stated interest rates at March 3 1 follow: 

Non-interest-bcaring dcmand 
NOW demand 
Savings and clubs 
Money market savings 
Certificates of deposit 
Other 
'l'otal 

Amount 

$ 31,085 
27,904 

139,724 
40,045 

263,963 
1,917 

w 

2006 
Percent of 

Total 
Deposits 

6.2% 
5.5 

27.7 
7.9 

52.3 
0.4 

100.0%) 

Weighted 
Average 

Rate Amount 
(Dollars in thousands) 

0.3 1 24,095 
0.68 137,810 
2.41 36,294 
3.76 229,685 
1.47 2,416 

2.37% &455-83-8 

--Yo $ 25,570 

2005 
Percent of 

Total 
Deposits - 

S.6Yo 
5.2 

30.2 
8.0 

50.4 
0.5 
W / O  

Weighted 
Average 

Rate 

--YO 
0.30 
0.62 
1.34 
2.30 
1.13 
I .47% 
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Scheduled maturities of certificates of deposit follow: 

March 31, 
2006 2005 

(In thousands) 
Certificatcs of deposit by remaining tcrrn 
to contractual maturity: 

Within one year 217,578 186,585 
After one but within two years 20, I95 13,412 
After two but within three years 10,456 8,512 
Aftcr threc years 15,734 21,176 

Total L 2 6 3 B  !L229.685 

The aggregate amount of certificates of deposit with minimum denominations of $100,000 or more was approximately 
$183.5 million at March 31, 2006 compared to $161.7 million at March 31,2005. 

NOW demand 
Savings and clubs 
Money market savings 
Ccrtificates of deposit 

Interest expense on deposits for the years ended March 3 1 follows: 

2006 2005 2004 
(In thousands) 

$ 74 $ 69 $ 85 
919 801 1,001 
60 I 3 02 235 

7.321 4,268 3.3 I5 
8,915 5,440 4,636 

30 25 24 Mortgagors deposits 
Penalty for early withdrawal o 

Total interest expense 
ccrtilicates of deposit 

NOTE 7. BORROWED MONEY 

Federal Home Loan Bank Advances. FHLB-NY advances and weighted average interest rates by remaining period to 
maturity at March 3 1 as follow: 

2006 2005 
(Dollars in thousands) 

Maturing 
Year Ended Weighted Weighted 
March 31, Averaie Rate Amount Average Rate Amount 

2006 --YO $ -- 3.41% $ 34,840 
2007 4.40 49,434 4.21 36,134 
2008 3.65 16,200 3.65 16,200 
2009 3.78 15,107 3.78 15,107 
2012 3.50 194 3.50 219 

4.13YO L S O S  - .2zs-% $W 

As a member of the FHLB-NY, the Bank may have outstanding FHLB-NY borrowings in a combination of term advances 
and overnight funds of up to 25% of its total assets, or approximately $165 million at March 3 1 ,  2006. Borrowings are secured by the 
Bank’s investment in FHLB-NY stock and by a blanket security agreement. This agreement requires the Bank to maintain as 
collateral certain qualifying assets (principally mortgage loans and securities) not otherwise pledged. At March 3 1, 2006, advances 
were secured by pledges of the Bank’s investment in the capital stock of the FHLB-NY totaling $4.6 million and a blanket assignment 
of the Bank’s unpledged qualifying mortgage loans of $141.8 million and mortgage-backed and investment securities of $38.3 
million. Included in the total assets held at the FHLB-NY as collateral for borrowings is excess borrowing capacity of$23.2 million. 

Securities Sold Under Agreements to Repurchase. In securities sold under agreements to repurchase, the Bank borrows 
funds through the transfer of debt securities to the FHLB-NY, as counterparty, and concurrently agrees to repurchase the identical 
securities at a fixed price on a specified date. Repurchase agreements are collateralized by the securities sold and, in certain cases, by 
additional margin securities. At March 3 I ,  2006 and 2005 there were no securities sold under agreements to repurchase outstanding. 
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Siibordinated Debt St.curities. On September 17, 2003, Carver Statutory Trust I, issued 13,000 shares, liquidation amount 
$1,000 per share, of floating rate capital securities. Gross proceeds from the sale of these trust preferred debt securities were $13.0 
million, and, together with the proceeds from the sale of the trust’s common securities, were used to purchase approximately $13.4 
million aggregate principal amount of the Holding Company’s floating rate junior subordinated debt securities due 2033. The trust 
preferred debt securities are redeemable quarterly at the option of the Company beginning on or after July 7, 2007 and have a 
mandatory redemption date of September 17, 2033. Cash distributions on the trust preferred debt securities are cumulative and 
payable at a floating rate per annum resetting quarterly with a margin of 3.05% over the three-month LIBOR. At March 31, 2006 and 
2005 the rate paid on these trust preferred debt securities was 7.97% and 6.08%, respectively. 

The following table sets forth certain information regarding Carver Federal’s borrowings at the dates and for the periods 
indicated: 

At or for the Year Ended 
March 31, 

2006 2005 2004 
(Dollars in thousands) 

Amounts outstanding at the end of year: 
PHLB advances 
Guaranteed preferred hencficial interest in junior subordinated debentures 
Loan for employcc stock ownership plan 

Rate paid at year cnd: 
FHLB advances 
Guaranteed prcferred beneficial interest in junior suhordinatcd debentures 
Loan for employce stock owncrship plan 

Maximum amount of borrowing outstanding at any month end: 
FHLB advances 
Guarantccd preferred bencticial interest in junior subordinated debentures 
Loan for employee stock owncrship plan 

Approximate avcrage amounts outstanding for ycar: 
F1 I I  J3 advanccs 
Guaranteed preferrcd beneficial intercst in junior subordinated debenturcs 
I,oan for cmployee stock ownership plan 

Approximate weighted average rate paid during year ( I ) :  

FHLR advances 
Guaranteed preferrcd beneficial intercst in junior subordinated debenturcs 
Loan for employee stock ownership plan 

$ 80,935 
12,857 

-- 

4.13% 
7.97% 

-- 

9; 112,488 
12.857 

-- 

$ 94,798 
12,827 

-- 

3.81% 
7.50% 

-- 

$ 102.500 
12,799 

-- 

3.78% 
6.08% 

-_ 

$ 112,506 
12.799 

-- 

$ 97,013 
12,768 

-- 

3.71% 
5.49% 

-- 

$ 91,516 
12,741 

25 

3.92% 
4.16% 
4.00% 

9; 112,030 
12.742 

207 

$ 99,359 
6,854 

137 

3.74% 
4,78?’0 
4.07% 

( I )  Thc approximate wcighted average ratc paid during the ycar was computed by dividing the average amounts outstanding into the 
related intcrcst expense for the ycar. 

NOTE 8. INCOME TAXES 

The components of income tax expense for the years ended March 31 are as follows: 

2006 2005 2004 
(In thousands) 

Federal income tax expense (bcnefit): 
Current $ 1,155 $ 1,978 $ 1,634 
Deferred 35 (782) 427 

1,190 1,196 2.06 1 

State and local income tax cxpcnse (benefit): 
Current 196 418 342 
Ileferrcd (57) (96) 90 

139 322 432 

Valuation allowance -- -- -- 

Totdl provision for income tax expense $1.518 K 2 9 1  
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The reconciliation of the expected federal income tax rate to the consolidated effective tax rate for fiscal years ended March 
31 follows: 

2006 
Amount Percent 

Statutory Federal income tax $ 1,734 34.0% 
State and local income taxes, net of 
Federal tax benefit 92 I .X 
General business credit (73) (1.5) 
Release of contingency reserve (500) (9.8) 

Total income tax expense $l,329 26.0% 
Other 76 1.5 

2005 2004 
Amount Percent Amount Percent 

(Dollars in thousands) 
$ 1,417 34.0% $ 2,493 34.0% 

Carver Federal’s stockholders’ equity includes approximately $2.8 million at each of March 3 1,2006,2005 and 2004, which 
has been segregated for federal income tax purposes as a bad debt reserve. The use of this amount for purposes other than to absorb 
losses on loans may result in taxable income for federal income taxes at the then current tax rate. 

Tax effects of existing temporary differences that give rise to significant portions of deferred tax assets and deferred tax 
liabilities at March 31 of the years indicated follow: 

Ikferred Tax Assets 
income from affiliate 
Allowance for loan losses 
Deferred loan fees 
Compensation and benefits 
Non-accrual loan interest 
Reserve for losses on other assets 
Investment security impairment 
Capital loss carryforward 
Unrealized loss on available-for-sale securities 
Minimum pension liability 
Other 

Total Deferred Tax Asscts 

Defcrrcd Tax Liabilities 
Depreciation 

Total Deferred Tax Liabilities 
Net Deferred Tax Assets 

2006 2005 
(In thousands) 

$ 1,975 
1,365 

235 
113 
284 

65 

591 
240 
I73 

2 
5,043 

_- 

$ 1,873 
1,393 

137 
3 84 
274 

32 
588 

144 
-- 

-- 
-- 

4,825 

352 428 
352 428 

$l=dd!B !fLL&Jz 

A valuation allowance against the deferred tax assets at March 31, 2006 and 2005 was not established since it is more likely 
than not that the results of future operations will generate sufficient future taxable income to realize the deferred tax asset. 
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NOTE 9. EARNINGS PER COMMON SHARE 

The following table reconciles the earnings available to common shareholders (numerator) and the weighted average 
common stock outstanding (denominator) for both basic and diluted earnings per share for the periods presented: 

Year Ended March 31, 
2006 2005 2004 

Net income 
Preferred stock dividends 
Net income - basic 
Impact of conversionipotential conversion of convertible 

Net income - diluted 
preferred stock to common stock 

Wcighted average common shares outstanding - basic 
Effect of dilutive options 
Effect of dilutive securities convertible preferrcd stock 
Weighted average common shares outstanding - diluted 

~~ 

(In thousands) 
$ 3,770 $ 2,649 $ 4,839 

-- (114) (197) 
3,770 2,535 4,642 

-- 114 197 
LLzD $- 2m LuS 

2,506 2,382 2,284 
59 84 97 
-- I I3 208 

-2.5hs 2.579 LL.32 

NOTE 10. STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY 

Conversion und Stock Qffering. On October 24, 1994, the Bank issued in an initial public offering 2,314,375 shares of 
common stock, par value $0.01 (the “Common Stock”), at a price of $10 per share resulting in net proceeds of $21.5 million. As part 
of the initial public offering, the Bank established a liquidation account at the time of conversion, in an amount equal to the surplus 
and reserves of the Bank at September 30, 1994. In the unlikely event of a complete liquidation of the Bank (and only in such event), 
eligible depositors who continue to maintain accounts shall be entitled to receive a distribution from the liquidation account. The total 
amount of the liquidation account may be decreased if thc balances of eligible deposits decreased as measured on the annual 
determination dates. The balance of the liquidation account was approximately $2.1 million (unaudited) at both March 31, 2006 and 
2005, based on an assumed decrease of 15.25% of eligible deposits per annum. On October 17, 1996, the Bank completed the 
Reorganization and became the wholly owned subsidiary of the Holding Company. Pursuant to an Agreement and Plan of 
Reorganization, dated May 21, 1996, each share of the Bank’s outstanding common stock was exchanged for one share of the 
Holding Company’s common stock. In connection with the Reorganization, a shareholder of the Bank exercised appraisal rights and 
100 shares of the Bank’s common stock were purchased from such shareholder in the fourth fiscal quarter of 1997. Accordingly, 
2,3 14,275 shares of the Holding Company’s common stock were issued in exchange for each outstanding share of Bank common 
stock. The Bank i s  not permitted to pay dividends to the Holding Company on its capital stock if the effect thereof would cause its net 
worth to be reduced below either: (i) the amount required for the liquidation account, or ( i i )  the amount required for the Bank to 
comply with applicable minimum regulatory capital requirements. 

Convertible frejirred Stock. On January 11, 2000, the Holding Company sold in a private placement, pursuant to a 
Securities Purchase Agreement, datcd January 11, 2000, 40,000 shares of Series A Convertible Preferred Stock (the “Series A 
Preferred Stock”) to Morgan Stanley & Co. Incorporated (“MSDW”) and 60,000 Shares of Serics B Convertible Preferred Stock (the 
“Series B Preferred Stock”) to Provender Opportunities Fund L.P. (“Provender”). In addition, Carver Federal entered into a 
Registration Rights Agreement, dated January 11,  2000, with MSDW and Provender. The gross proceeds from the private placement 
were $2.5 million. On June 1,2004, Provender sold all 60,000 of its Series B Preferred Stock to Keefe Bruyette & Woods, Inc. 

The Series A Preferred Stock and Series B Preferred Stock (collectively the “Preferred Stock”) accrued annual dividends at 
$1.97 per share. Dividends were paid semi-annually on June 15 and December 15 of each year. Each share of Preferred Stock was 
convertible at the option of the holder, at any time, into 2.08333 shares of Carver Federal’s Common Stock, subject to certain 
antidilution adjustments. The Holding Company had the option to redeem the Preferred Stock beginning January 15, 2004. In the 
event of any liquidation, dissolution or winding up of Carver Federal, whether voluntary or involuntary, the holders of the shares of 
Preferred Stock would be entitled to receive $25 per share of Preferred Stock plus all dividends accrued and unpaid thereon. Each 
share of Preferred Stock would be entitled to one vote for each share of Common Stock into which the Preferred Stock would be 
converted. On September 15, 2004, the Holding Company issued a press release and mailed a Notice of Redemption and a related 
Letter of Transmittal to the holders of the Preferred Stock, stating that it would redeem all 40,000 outstanding shares of its Series A 
Convertible Preferred Stock and all 60,000 outstanding shares of its Series B Convertible Preferred Stock. The Preferred Stock shares 
were to be redeemed on October 15, 2004 (“Redemption Date”) at a redemption price of $26.97 per share plus $0.65 in accrued and 
unpaid dividends to, but excluding, the Redemption Date for an aggregate redemption price of $27.62 per Preferred Share. Dividends 
on the Preferred Shares would have ceased to accrue on the Redemption Date. On October 15, 2004 the holders of all 40,000 
outstanding shares of its Series A Convertible Preferred Stock and all 60,000 outstanding shares of its Series B Convertible Preferred 
Stock, elected, prior to the Redemption Date, pursuant to the Certificate of Designations, Preferences and Rights of the Preferred 
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Shares, to convert their Preferred Shares into shares of Carver’s common stock, par value $0.01 (the “Common Stock”). Upon 
conversion of their Preferred Shares, the holders were issued an aggregate of 208,333 shares of Common Stock. 

Regulatory Capital. The operations and profitability of the Bank are significantly affected by legislation and the policies of 
the various regulatory agencies. The OTS has promulgated capital requirements for financial institutions consisting of minimum 
tangible and core capital ratios of 1.5% and 3.0%, respectively, of the institution’s adjusted total assets and a minimum risk-based 
capital ratio of 8.0% of the institution’s risk weighted assets. Although the minimum core capital ratio is 3.0%, the Federal Deposit 
Insurance Corporation Improvement Act, as amended (“FDICIA”), stipulates that an institution with less than 4.0% core capital is 
deemed undercapitalized. At March 3 1,2006 and 2005, the Bank exceeded all of its regulatory capital requirements. 

The following is a summary of the Bank’s actual capital amounts and ratios as of March 3 1, 2006 and 2005 compared to the 
OTS requirements for minimum capital adequacy and for classification as a well-capitalized institution: 

Minimum Capital Classification As 
Bank Actual Adequacy Well Capitalized 

Amount Ratio Amount Ratio Amount Ratio 

March 3 1.2006 
Tangible capital 
Leverage capital 
Risk-based capital: 

Tier 1 
Total 

March 3 I ,  2005 
Tangible capital 
Leverage capital 
Risk-based capital: 

Tier 1 
Total 

(Dollars in thousands) 

$ 62,207 9.4% $ 9,929 1.5% N/A N/A% 
62,207 9.4 26,477 4.0 $ 33,096 5.0 

$ 62,207 12.4 $ 20,037 4.0 $ 30,056 6.0 
66,222 13.2 40,074 8.0 50,093 10.0 

$ 57,684 9.2% $ 9,404 1.5% N/A N/A% 
57,684 9.2 25,078 4.0 $ 31,348 5.0 

$ 57,684 14.6 $ 15,877 4.0 $ 23,753 6.0 
61,781 15.6 3 1,670 8.0 39,587 10.0 

The following tab1 reconciles the Bank’s stockholders’ equity at March 3 1, 2006, in accordance with accounting principles 
generally accepted in the U.S. to regulatory capital requirements: 

Remlatnrv Canital Reauirements 
GAAP Tangible Leverage Ris k-Based 
Capital Capital Capital Capital 

(In thousands) 

Stockholders’ Equity at March 3 1, 2006 (’I $ 61,814 $ 61,814 $ 61,814 $ 61,814 

Add: 

Deduct: 
General valuation allowances 

Unrealized gain (loss) on securities available-for- 
sale, net 

Regulatory Capital 
Minimum Capital requirement 
Regulatory Capital Excess 

”* -- 4,015 

393 393 393 
62,207 62,207 66,222 
9,929 26,477 40,074 

$52.278 $35.730 $26.148 

(1) Reflects Bank only 

Comprehensive Income. Comprehensive income represents net income and certain amounts reported directly in 
stockholders’ equity, such as the net unrealized gain or loss on securities available for sale and loss on pension liability. The Holding 
Company has reported its comprehensive income for fiscal 2006, 2005 and 2004 in the Consolidated Statements of Changes in 
Stockholders’ Equity and Comprehensive Income. Carver Federal’s accumulated other comprehensive income or loss (other than net 
income or loss) included net unrealized losses on securities at March 31, 2006 and 2005 of $393,000 and $235,000, respectively. 
Included in the amounts at March 31, 2006 and 2005 were unrealized gains of $183,000 and $209,000, respectively, relating to 
available-for-sale securities that were transferred during fiscal 2003 to held-to-maturity. This unrealized gain is an unrealized gain 
reported as a separate component of stockholders’ equity and is amortized over the remaining lives of the securities as an adjustment 
to yield. Also included in accumulated other comprehensive income or loss at March 31, 2006 was a loss on the Bank’s employee 
pension plan liability of $28 1,000, net of taxes. 
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NOTE 11. EMPLOYEE BENEFIT AND STOCK COMPENSATION PLANS 

Pension H u n .  Carver Federal has a non-contributory defined benefit pension plan covering all eligible employees. The 
benefits are based on each employee’s term of service. Carver Federal’s policy was to fund the plan with contributions which equal 
the maximum amount deductible for federal income tax purposes. The plan was curtailed during the fiscal year ended March 31, 
2001. 

The following table sets forth the plan’s changes in benefit obligation, changes in plan assets and funded status and amounts 
recognized in Carver Federal’s consolidated financial statements at March 3 1 : 

Change in projected benefit obligation during the year 
Pro-jccted benefit obligation at thc beginning of ycar 
Interest cost 
Actuarial loss 
Benefits paid 
Prijected benefit obligation at end of year 

Changc in fair value of plan assets during the ycar 
Fair valuc of plan assets at beginning of year 
Actual return on plan asscts 
Iknefits paid 
Fair value o f  plan assets at end of year 

Funded status 
Unrccognized loss / (gain) 
Accrued pension cost 

2006 2005 
(In thousands) 

$ 2,785 $ 2.736 
163 167 
197 136 

(253) -.Lm) 
s 2,892 &Lm 

$ 3,068 
136 

(254) 
li 2 - 9 s  

$ 165 
203 

L@ 

Net periodic pension benefit included the following components for the years ended March 3 I are: 

2006 2005 2004 
(In thousands) 

Interest cost 
Expected return on plan asscts 
Amortization of: 

Llnrccognized (gain) 
Net periodic pension (benefit) 

Significant actuarial assumptions used in determining plan benefits for the years ended March 3 I are: 

2006 2005 2004 
(In thousands) 

Annual salary increase ( I )  NIA N/A N/A 

Discount ratc used in measurcment of benefit obligations 5.75% 6.38% 6.50% 
Expectcd long-tenn rcturn on assets 8.00% 8.00% 8.00% 

( 1 )  The annual salary increase ratc is not applicablc as the plan is frozen. 

Suvings h e n l i v e  Plan. Carver has a savings incentive plan, pursuant to Section 401(k) of the Code, for all eligible 
employees of the Rank. Pursuant to the plan, Carver may make an annual non-elective contribution to the 401(k) plan on behalf of 
each eligible employee up to 2% of the employee’s annual pay, subject to 1RS limitations. This non-elective Carver contribution may 
be made regardless of whether or not the employee makes a contribution to the 401(k) plan. To be eligible for the non-elective Carver 
contribution, the employee must be 21 years of age, have completed at least one year of service and be employed as of the last day of 
the plan year, December 3 1. In addition, Carver matches contributions to the plan equal to 100% of pre-tax contributions made by 
each employee up to a maximum of 4% of their pay, subject to IRS limitations. All such matching contributions to the plan will be 
fully vested and non-forfeitable at all times regardless of the years of service. However, the non-elective Carver contribution, if 
awarded, vests over a five-year period. Total savings incentive plan expenses for the years ended March 3 1, 2006, 2005 and 2004 
were $198,000, $1 74,000 and $95,000, respectively. 
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Directors ’ Relirenienl Plun. Concurrent with the conversion to the stock form of ownership, Carver Federal adopted a 
retirement plan for non-employee directors. The plan was curtailed during the fiscal year ended March 31, 2001. The benefits are 
payable based on the term of service as a director. The following table sets forth the plan’s changes in benefit obligation, changes in 
plan assets and funded status and amounts recognized in Carver Federal’s consolidated financial statements at March 31 : 

2006 2005 
(In thousands) 

Change in projcctcd benetit ohligation during the year 
I’rojected benefit 0bligdtiOII at beginning of year 
Intcrcst cost 
Actuarial (gain) loss 
Benefits paid 

Projected benetit obligation at end ofycar 

Change in fair value of plan asscts during the year 
Fair value of plan assets at beginning of ycar 
Employer contributions 
Benefits paid 
Fair value of plan assets at end or  year 

Funded Status 
1Jnrecogni/ed (gain) 
Accrucd pcnsion cost 

$ 169 
9 
I 

(43) 
$ !3h 

$ -- 
43 

(43) 
$- 

$ (136) 
(16) 
$ (152) 

Net periodic pension cost for the years ended March 3 1,2006, 2005 and 2004 included the following: 

Intcrest cost 
Net periodic pension cost 

2006 2005 2004 

9;6 $9 %12 
$...6 $g $I?_ 

(In thousands) 

The actuarial assumptions used in determining plan benefits include a discount rate of 5.75%, 6.1% and 6.4% for the years 
ended March 3 1,2006,2005 and 2004, respectively. 

ROLL The Bank owns one BOL1 plan which was formed to offset future employee benefit costs and provide additional 
benefits due to its tax exempt nature. Only officer level employees are covered under this program. 

An initial investment of $8.0 million was made to the BOLl program on September 21, 2004. At March 31, 2006 the 
Consolidated Statement of Conditions reflects a net cash surrender value of $8.5 million. The related income is reflected in the 
Consolidated Statement of Operations as a component of other non-interest income. 

Munugement Recognition Plan (“MRP”). The MRP provides for automatic grants of restricted stock to certain employees as 
of the September 12, 1995 adoption of the MRP. On March 28, 2005 the plan was amended for all future awards. The MRP provides 
for additional discretionary grants of restrictcd stock to those employees sclected by the committee established to administer the 
MRP. Awards granted prior to March 28, 2005, generally vest in three to five equal annual installments commencing on thc first 
anniversary date of the award, provided the recipient is still an employee of the Holding Company or the Bank on such date. Under 
the amended plan awards granted after March 28, 2005 vest based on a five-year performance-accelerated vesting schedule. Ten 
percent of the awarded shares vest in each of the first four years and the remainder in the fifth year. Using a performance-accelerated 
vesting schedule, with return on assets (“KOA”) as the performance measure, the vesting period can be accelerated in years three and 
four if the Bank meets or exceeds the three-year average ROA for its peer group. Awards will become 100% vested upon termination 
of service due to death or disability. When shares become vcsted and are distributed, the recipients will receive an amount equal to 
any accrued dividends with respect thereto. On September 23, 2003, the MRP was amended to increase the number of shares 
available to 119,431. Pursuant to the MRP, the Bank recognized $134,000, $158,000 and $128,000 as expense for the years ended 
March 3 1,2006, 2005 and 2004, respectively. 

Employee Stock Chunership Plan. Effective upon conversion, an ESOP was established for all eligible employees. The ESOP 
used $1,821,320 in proceeds from a term loan obtained from a third-party institution to purchase 182,132 shares of Bank common 
stock in the initial public offering. The term loan principal was payable over forty equal quarterly installments through September 
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2004. Interest on the term loan was payable quarterly, initially at a rate of 3.00/0 over the average federal funds rate. On May 20,2002, 
the tertn loan was modified to provide for interest at a fixed rate of 4.0% per annum. Each year until the loan paid ot‘f in June of 2004, 
the Dank made discretionary contributions to the ESOP, which were equal to principal and interest payments required on the tern1 
loan less any dividends received by the ESOP on unallocated shares. 

Shares purchased with the loan proceeds were initially pledged as collateral for the term loan. Currently, shares are 
purchased in the open tnarket in accordance with Carver’s common stock repurchase program and are held in a suspense account for 
future allocation among the participants on the basis of compensation, as described by the Plan, in the year of allocation. Accordingly, 
the ESOP shares pledged as collateral are reported as unearned ESOP shares in the consolidated statements of financial condition. As 
shares are committed to be released from collateral, the Bank reports compensation expense equal to the current market price of the 
shares, and the shares become outstanding for net incoinc per common share computations. ESOP compensation expense was 
$200,000, $200,000 and $0 for the years ended March 3 1,2006,2005 and 2004, respectively. 

The ESOP shares at March 3 1 follow: 

Allocated shares 
I Inallocated shares 
Total ESOP sharcs 

2006 2005 
(In thousands) 

72 78 
2 5 
-73 83 

Fair value of unallocated shares L E  $3 

Stock Option Hun.  During 1995, the Holding Company adopted the 1995 Stock Option Plan (the “Plan”) to advance the 
interests of the Bank through providing stock options to select key employees and directors of the Bank and its affiliates. The number 
of shares reserved for issuance under the plan is 338,862. At March 31, 2006, there were 238,061 options outstanding and 144,836 
were exercisable. Options are granted at the fair market value of Carver Federal common stock at the time of the grant for a period not 
to exceed ten ycars. Under the Plan option grants generally vest on an annual basis ratably over either three or five years, 
commencing after one year of service and, in some instances, portions of option grants vest at the time of the grant. On March 28, 
2005, the plan was amended and vesting of future awards is based on a five-year performance-accelerated vesting schedule. Ten 
percent of the awarded options vest in each of the first four years and the remainder in the fifth year. Using a performance-accelcrated 
vesting schedule, ROA as the performance measure, the vesting period can be accelerated in years three and four if the Bank meets or 
exceeds the three-year average ROA for its peer group. All options are exercisable immediately upon a participant’s disability, death 
or a change in control, as defined in the Plan. 

Information regarding stock options as of and for the years ended March 3 1 follows: 

2006 
Weighted 
Average 
Exercise 

Options Price 
Outstanding, beginning of yeas 225,292 $ 12.37 
Granted 35,277 16.98 
Exercised (9,903) 9.57 
Forfeited 12,605) 17.44 
Outstanding, end of year 3 8 , 0 4 1  12.- 
Exercisable at year end Lm 

200s 
Weighted 
Average 
Exercise 

Options Price 
229,636 $ I 1.25 
39,341 19.65 

(35,954) 12.75 
(7.737) - 14.38 
225.292 
llLs46 

2004 
Weighted 
Average 
Exercise 

Options Price 
192, I76 $ 10.07 
43,638 16.35 

(77) 12.06 
(6.101) - 10.39 
229,1i36 N5 
- -  m 2 s  



Information regarding stock options at March 3 I ,  2006 follows: 

Options Outstanding Options Exercisable 
Weighted Weighted Weighted 

Range of 
Exercise Prices 

$ 8.00 8.99 
9.00 9.99 

10.00 10.99 
12.00 12.99 
13.00 13.99 
15.00 15.99 
16.00 16.99 
17.00 17.99 
19.00 19.99 
20.00 20.99 
2 I ,00 2 1.99 

Total 

Shares 
60,000 
38,060 
6,000 

40,576 
1,000 
2,265 

30,480 
29,327 
29,243 

729 
381 

2 3 3  

Average 
Remaining 

Life 
4 years 
5 ycars 
5 years 
6 years 
2 years 
I0 ycars 
7 years 
9 years 
8 years 
9 years 
X years 

- 

Average 
Exercise 

Price 
$ 8.17 

9,92 
10.52 
12.10 
13.81 
15.10 
16.47 
17.13 
19.64 
20.00 
21.76 

Shares 
60,000 
38,060 
6,000 

39,776 
1,000 

_- 
_- 
_- 
-- 
*_ 

_- 
14eS34 

Average 
Exercise 

Price 
$ 8.17 

9.92 
10.52 
12.09 
13.81 _- 

-- 
..- 
-* 

-- 
-- 

NOTE 12. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES 

Credit Reluted Commitments. The Bank is a party to financial instruments with off-balance sheet risk in the normal course 
of business to meet the financing needs of its customers. 

These financial instruments primarily include commitments to extend credit and to sell loans. Those instruments involve, to 
varying degrees, elements of credit and interest rate risk in excess of the amount recognized in the statements of financial condition. 
The contract amounts of those instruments reflect the extent of involvement the Bank has in particular classes of financial 
instruments. 

The Bank's exposure to credit loss in the event of nonperformance by the other party to the financial instrument for 
commitments to extend credit is represented by the contractual notional amount of those instruments. The Bank uses the same credit 
policies making commitments as it does for on-balance-sheet instruments. 

The Bank has outstanding various commitments as follows: 

March 31, 
2006 2005 

(In thousands) 
Commitments to originate mortgage loans $ 64,163 $ 44,129 
Commitments to originate commercial and consumer loans 439 515 
Letters of credit 1.795 1,908 

Total %63nz Lf!Ls2 

At March 31, 2006, of the $64.2 million in outstanding commitments to originate mortgage loans, $61.0 million represented 
construction loans at an average rate of 5.70%, $1.3 million represented commitments to originate non-residential mortgage loans at 
rates within a range of 6.50% to 7.00% and $1.9 million represented the balance of one-four residential loans at rates between 6.38% 
and 7.25%. 

The balance of commitments on commercial and consumer loans at March 31, 2006 is primarily undisbursed funds from 
approved unsecured commercial lines of credit. All such lines carry adjustable rates mainly tied to prime. At March 31, 2006, the 
Bank maintained one letter of credit in the amount of $1.8 million. 

Commitments to extend credit are agreements to lend to a customer as long as there is no violation of any condition 
established in the contract. Commitments generally have fixed expiration dates or other termination clauses and may require payment 
of a fee. Since some of the commitments are expected to expire without being drawn upon, the total commitment amounts do not 
necessarily represent future cash requirements. The Bank evaluates each customer's creditworthiness on a case-by-case basis. The 
amount of collateral obtained if deemed necessary by the Bank upon extension of credit is based on management's credit evaluation 
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of the counter-party. 

Lease Commitnten/s. Rentals, including real estate taxes, under long term operating leases for certain branch offices 
aggregated approximately $7 17,000, $479,000, and $245,000 for the years ended March 3 1,2006,2005 and 2004, respectively. As of 
March 31, 2005, minimum rental commitments under all noncancellable leases with initial or remaining terms of more than one year 
and expiring through 2018 follow: 

Year Ending Minimum 
March 31, Rental 

(In thousands) 
2007 657 
2008 677 
2009 662 
2010 62 1 
201 I 605 

Thercafier 1,230 

The Bank also has, in the normal course of business, commitments for services and supplies. Management does not 
anticipate losses on any of these transactions. 

Legal Proceedings. From time to time, Carver Federal is a party to various legal proceedings incident to its business. Certain 
claims, suits, complaints and investigations involving Carver Federal, arising in the ordinary course of business, have been filed or are 
pending, The Company is of the opinion, after discussion with legal counsel representing Carver Federal in these proceedings, that the 
aggregate liability or loss, if any, arising from the ultimate disposition of these matters would not have a material adverse effect on the 
Company’s consolidated financial position or results of operations. At March 3 1, 2006, there were no material legal proceedings to 
which the Company or its subsidiaries was a party or to which any of their property was subject. 

NOTE 13. FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 

SFAS 107 “Disclosures About Fair Value of hi’nuncial Instrumenls” requires the Bank to disclose, in addition to the 
carrying value, the fair value of certain financial instruments, both assets and liabilities recorded on and off balance sheet, for which it 
is practicable to estimate fair value. SFAS 107 defines financial instrument as cash, evidence of ownership of an entity, or a contract 
that conveys or imposes on an entity the contractual right or obligation to either receive or deliver cash or another financial 
instrument. The fair value of a financial instrument is defined as the amount at which the instrument could be exchanged in a current 
transaction between willing parties, other than a forced or liquidation sale and is best evidenced by a quoted market price if one exists. 
In cases where quoted market prices are not available, estimated fair values have been determined by the Bank using the best 
available data and estimation methodology suitable for each category of financial instrument. For those loans and deposits with 
floating interest rates, it is presumed that estimated fair values generally approximate their recorded book balances. The estimation 
methodologies used and the estimated fair values and carrying values of the Bank’s financial instruments are set forth below: 

Cash and cash equivalents and accrued interest receivable 

The carrying amounts for cash and cash equivalents and accrued interest receivable approximate fair value because they 
mature in three months or less. 

Securities 

The fair values for securities available-for-sale, mortgage-backed securities held-to-maturity and investment securities held- 
to-maturity are based on quoted market or dealer prices, if available. If quoted market or dealer prices are not available, fair value is 
estimated using quoted market or dealer prices for similar securities. 

Loans receivable 

The fair value of loans receivable is estimated by discounting future cash flows, using current rates at which similar loans 
would be made to borrowers with similar credit ratings and for the same remaining maturities of such loans. 
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Mortgage servicing rights 

The fair value of mortgage servicing rights is estimated by discount future cash flows, using current rates at which similar 
loans would be made to borrowers with similar credit ratings and for the same remaining maturities of such loans. 

Deposits 

The fair value of demand, savings and club accounts is equal to the amount payable on demand at the reporting date. The 
fair value of certificates of deposit is estimated using rates currently offered for deposits of similar remaining maturities. The fair 
value estimates do not include the benefit that results from the low-cost funding provided by deposit liabilities compared to the cost of 
borrowing funds in the market. 

Borrowings 

The fair values of advances from the Federal Home Loan Bank of New York, securities sold under agreement to repurchase 
and other borrowed money are estimated using the rates currently available to the Bank for debt with similar terms and remaining 
maturities. 

Commitments 

The fair market value of unearned fees associated with financial instruments with off-balance sheet risk at March 3 1, 2005 
approximates the fees received. The fair value is not considered material. 

The carrying amounts and estimated fair values of the Bank's financial instruments for the following years: 

At March 31, 
2006 2005 

Estimated Estimated 
Carrying Fair Carrying Fair 
Amount Value Amount Value 

(In thousands) 
Financial Assets: 

Cash and cash equivalents 
Investment securities available-for-sale 
Mortgage backed securities available-for-sale 
Mortgage hacked securities held-to-maturity 
1,oans receivable 
Accrued intercst receivable 
Mortgage servicing rights 

Deposits 
Advances from FHLU of New Yotk 
Other borrowed money 

Financial Liabilities: 

$ 22,904 22,904 $ 20,420 $ 20,420 
12,078 12,078 22,551 22,55 1 
69,804 69,804 95,482 95,482 
26,404 25,880 31,302 31,310 

493,432 488,258 42 1,987 424,886 
2,970 2,970 2,702 2,702 

339 325 I79 161 

$ 504,638 $ 506,886 $ 453,454 $ 451,752 
80,935 79,848 102,500 101,651 
12,857 12,857 12,799 12,799 

Limitations 

The fair value estimates are made at a discrete point in time based on relevant market information about the financial 
instruments. These estimates do not reflect any premium or discount that could result from offering for sale at one time the entire 
holdings of a particular financial instrument. Because no quoted market value exists for a significant portion of the Bank's financial 
instruments, fair value estimates are based on judgments regarding future expected loss experience, current economic conditions, risk 
characteristics of various financial instruments, and other factors. These estimates are subjective in nature and involve uncertainties 
and matters of significant judgment and, therefore, cannot be determined with precision. Changes in assumptions could significantly 
affect the estimates. 

In addition, the fair value estimates are based on existing off balance sheet financial instruments without attempting to value 
anticipated future business and the value of assets and liabilities that are not considered financial instruments. Other significant assets 
and liabilities that are not considered financial assets and liabilities include premises and equipment and advances from borrowers for 
taxes and insurance. In addition, the tax ramifications related to the realization of unrealized gains and losses can have a significant 
effect on fair value estimates and have not been considered in any of the estimates. 
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Finally, reasonable comparability between financial institutions may not be likely due to the wide range o f  permitted 
valuation techniques and numerous estimates which must be made given the absence of active secondary markets for many of the 
financial instruments. This lack of uniform valuation methodologies introduces a greater degree of subjectivity to these estimated fair 
values. 

NOTE 14. QUARTERLY FINANCIAL DATA (UNAUDITED) 

The following is a summary of unaudited quarterly financial data for fiscal years ended March 3 1,2006 and 2005: 

Three Months Ended 
June 30 September 30 December 31 March 31 

(Dollars in thousands, except per share data) 
Fiscal 2006 
Interest incoinc 
lntcrest expense 

Net intcrest incoinc 
Provision for loan losses 
Non-intercst income 
Non-intcrcst expensc 
Income tax expcnse 

Nct income 

Earnings per common share 
I3asic 
Diluted 

Fiscal 2005 
Intcrest income 
Interest expense 

Net intercst income 
Provision for loan losses 
Non-intcrest incomc 
Non-intercst expense 
Income tax cxpense 

Net income 

Earnings per common share 
Ijasic 
Diluted 

$ 7,752 
(3.052) 
4,700 

1,399 
(4,795) 

(464) 
$_A- 

_ _  

0.34 
0.33 

$ 6,712 
(2,168) 
4,544 

Iql39 
(3,938) 

_L663) 
$.Ox2 

-- 

$ 0.45 
$ 0.42 

$ 7,748 
(3,2 13) 
4,535 

1,031 
(4,636) 

(329) 
L 601 

-_ 

0.24 
0.23 

$ 7,013 
(2,368) 
4,645 

1,108 
(5,069) 

(291) 
$ -483 

-_ 

$ 0.09 
$ 0.09 

$ 8.210 

4,772 

1,123 
(4,66 8) 

60 
% 1m 

(3,438) 

_- 

0*51 
0.50 

$ 7,223 
(2,485) 
4,738 

1,203 
-- 

(4,507) 
(514) 
-- $ -2 

$ 0.37 
$ 0.36 

$ 8.676 
(3,791) 
4,885 

1,788 
(5,037) 

(595) 
-1441 

-- 

0.42 
0.41 

$ 7,597 
(2,737) 
4,860 

90 I 
(5,179) 

(190) u 

-- 

$ 0.16 
$ 0.15 

NOTE 15. CARVER BANCOFW, INC. (PARENT COMPANY ONLY) FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

CONDENSED STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION 

Assets 
Cash on deposit with the Bank 
Investment securities 
Investment in subsidiaries 
Other assets 
Total Assets 

Liabilities and Stockholders’ Equity 
Borrowings 
Accounts payable to subsidiaries 
Other liabilities 
Total liabilities 

Stockholders’ equity 
Total Liabilities and Stockholders’ Equity 

As of March 31, 
2006 2005 

(In thousands) 

$ 59 

62,2 19 
3 

-- 

L=&22u 

13,260 
66 

258 
$ 13.584 

48,697 
%622rd 

$ 289 
1,575 

57,851 
140 

L. 59- 

13,202 
667 
I85 

$ 14,054 

45.801 
$- 



. -- 

CONDENSED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS 

Income 
Equity in net income from Subsidiaries 
Interest income from deposit with the Bank 
Othcr income 
Total incomc 

Expenses 
Intcrest Expcnse on Borrowings 
Salaries and ernployec bcncfits 
Legal expense 
Shareholder cxpcnsc 
Other 
Total expense 

Income before income taxcs 
Income tax expense 
Net h o m e  

Year Ended March 31, 
2006 2005 2004 

(In thousands) 

$ 6,758 $ 7,119 $ 8,328 
5 7 9 

22 I 

6,785 
23 9 
7,149 8,346 

985 72 1 337 
287 225 169 

407 488 458 
7 1,548 50 

1,686 2,982 1,014 

-- -- _- 

5,099 4,167 7,332 
1,329 1.518 2.493 

m %2.649 lLAtu2 

CONDENSED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS 

Year Ended March 31, 
2006 2005 2004 

Cash Flows from Operating Activities 
Net income 
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash (uscd in) 
provided by operating activities: 

Equity in net income of Subsidiaries 
Income taxes from the Bank 
(Decrease) incrcasc in accounts payable to Rank 
Increase (decrease) in other liabilitics 

Other, net 
Net cash (uscd in ) provided by operating activities 

Cash Flows from Investing Activities 
Dividends Keceived from Bank 
Additional Investment in Bank & other subsidiaries 
Proceeds from sale of investment securitics 
Purchase of investment securities 

Net cash provided by (used in) invcsting activities 

Cash Flows from Financing Activities 
Issuance of Sub Debt 
Purchase of trcasury stock, net 
Dividends paid 
Net cash (used in) provided by financing activities 
Net (decrease) increase in cash 

Cash and cash equivalents -beginning 
Cash and cash equivalcnts - ending 

(In thousands) 

$ 3,770 $ 2,649 $4,839 

(6,758) (7,119) (8,328) 

(443) 645 21 

299 2.534 1.772 

1,329 1,518 2,493 

40 (14) 131 

(1,763) 213 928 

850 4,866 -- 

1,575 -- ** 

-- ** (13,153) 

-- 
2,425 

(3,074) 
1,792 

(59) 
( I  3,2 12) 

289 
$. -39 

93 
La2 
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NOTE 16. RECENT ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENTS 

ACCOUNTING FOR SERVICING OF FINANCIAL ASSETS 

In March, 2006 FASB issued SFAS 156, Accounting jhr Seriicing of h’inuncial Assets, which amends SFAS.140, 
Acc~unting jbr lrunsfir-s und Servicing of Finnncid Assets urd Extinguishments of Liabilities, with respect to the accounting for 
separately recognized servicing assets and servicing liabilities. The Statement addresses the recognition and measurement of 
separately recognized servicing assets and liabilities and provides an approach to simplify efforts to obtain hedge-like (offset) 
accounting. 

SFAS 156 is effective as of the beginning of the first fiscal year that begins after September 15, 2006. Earlier adoption is 
permitted as of the beginning of an entity’s fiscal year, provided the entity has not yet issued financial statements, including financial 
statements for any interim period for that fiscal year, CARVER will adopt this pronouncement as of April 1 ,  2007 and it is not 
expected to have a material impact on the Company’s consolidated financial condition or results of operations. 

THE MEANING OF OTHER-THAN-TEMPORARY IMPAIRMENT AND ITS APPLICATION TO CERTAIN 
INVESTMENTS 

In November 2005, the FASB issued Staff Position No. FASB 115-1 and FAS 124-1, “The Meaning o j  Other-Than- 
7‘emporwy Impuirment and Its Applicution tu Certain Investments” (FSP FAS 115-1 AND FAS 124-l), which amends FASB 
Statements No. 115, Accounting for Certain Investments in Debt and Equity Securities, and No. 124, Accounting for Certain 
Investments Held by Not-for-Profit Organizations, and APB Opinion No. 18, The Equity Method of Accounting for Investments in 
Common Stock. FSP FAS 115-1 and FAS 124-1 addresses the determination of when an investment is considered impaired; whether 
the impairment is other than temporary; and how to measure an impairment loss and also addresses accounting considerations 
subsequent to the recognition of an other-than-temporary impairment on a debt security, and requires certain disclosures about 
unrealized losses that have not been recognized as other-than-temporary impairments. LJnder FSP FAS 1 15- 1 and FAS 124-1, 
impairment losses must be recognized in earnings equal to the entire difference between the security’s cost and it fair share value at 
the financial statement date, without considering partial recoveries subsequent to that date. FSP FAS 115-1 and FAS 124-1 also 
requires that an investor recognize an other-than-temporary impairment loss when a decision to sell a security has been made and the 
investor does not expect the fair value of the security to fully recover prior to the expected time of sale, ‘This pronouncement is 
effective for reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2005. The Company does not expect application to have any impact on 
its financial condition, results of operations or financial statement disclosures. 

ACCOUNTING CHANGES AND ERROR CORRECTIONS 

In May 2005, the FASB issued SFAS No. 154, “Accounling Changes and Error Correciions”(SFAS No. 154), which 
replaces APB Opinion No. 20, “Accounting Changes,” or APB No. 20, and SFAS No. 3, “Reporting Accounting Changes in Interim 
Financial Statements,’’ and changes the requirements for the accounting for and reporting of a change in accounting principle. SFAS 
No. 154 applies to all voluntary changes in accounting principle and to changes required by an accounting pronouncement when the 
pronouncement does not include specific transaction provisions. SFAS No. 154 requires retrospective application of changes in 
accounting principle to prior periods’ financial statements unless it is impracticable to determine either the period-specific effects or 
the cumulative effect of the change. APB No. 20 previously required that most voluntary changes in accounting principle be 
recognized by including the cumulative effect of the change in net income for the period of the change in accounting principle. SFAS 
No. 154 carries forward without change the guidance contained in APB No. 20 for reporting the correction of an error in previously 
issued financial statements and a change in accounting estimate. SFAS No. 154 also carries forward the guidance in APE No. 20 
requiring justification of a change in accounting principle on the basis of preferability. SFAS No. 154 is effective for accounting 
changes and corrections of errors made in fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2005, with early adoption permitted. Carver will 
adopt this pronouncement as of April I ,  2006. 

ACCOUNTING FOR STOCK BASED COMPENSATION 

In December 2004, the FASB issued SFAS 123R “Accounting for Stock Based Compt‘nsulion, Share Based Payment”, 
which replaces the guidance prescribed in SFAS 123. SFAS 123R requires that compensation cost relating to share-based payment 
transactions be recognized in the financial statements. The associated costs.will be measured based on the fair value of the equity or 
liability instruments issued. SFAS 123R covers a wide range of sharc-based compensation arrangements including share options, 
restricted share plans, performance-based awards, share appreciation rights and employee share purchase plans. SFAS 123R is 
effectivc as of the first interim or annual reporting period beginning after June 15, 2005. Carver will adopt this pronouncement as of 
April 1, 2006 and it is not expected to have a material impact on the Company’s consolidated financial condition or results of 
operations. 
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IUOTIPOR ATE INE'ORMATION~ 

Board of Directors 

Deborah C. Wright 
Chairrnun and CEO 
Carver Bancorp, Inc 

Carol Baldwin Moody 
Senior Vice, President and Chief 
Compliunce Oficcrr 
Nationwide Insurance 

Dr. Samucl J. Oanicl 
President and LEO 
North General HospituVil 

David L. Hinds 
Former Munuging Director 
Deutsche Bank 

Robert Holland, Jr. 
Industy Partner 
WiVilliums Capital Partners/ 
CSWPriva/c. Equdy, LLP 

Pazel G. Jackson, Jr. 
Former Senior Vice President 
,JPMorgan Chaw 

Edward B. Ruggiero 
Vice President, Corporate Finance 
Time Wurner Inc. 

Robert R. Tarter 
Executive Vice President 
State Street C'orporution 

Strauss Zelnick 
President & CEO 
ZelnickMedia 

Executive Officers 

James Bason 
Senior V ~ L E  President (rnd 
Chid Lending Oficer 

hank  Deaton 
Senior Vice President qf OprrattonT 

Carmelo Felix 
Senior Vice Pri,sidc.nt, 
Director qf Audit and Crirnpliance 

William Gray 
Senior Vi< e President and 
Chiej'Finuncid Cgjker 

Other Senior Officers 1'RhNSFERhCiENI' 

Evan Jalazo Amcrican Stock Transfer servcs as 
Vice Presiden6 and Controller Transfer Agent and Registrar. 

Stockholdcrs wishing to change the name, 
Roy Swan address or ownership of stock, to report 
Senior Vice President, Ch jej'(?fstaff' lost certificates or to consolidate accounts 
and Corporate Secretary should contact: 

American Stock Transfer & Trust Co. 
Branches 

75 West 125th S k G t  
New York, NY 
(Ueadquarters) 

142 Malcolm X Boulcvard 
New York, NY 

300 West 1451h Strect 
New York, NY 

1009 Nostrand Avenue 
Brooklyn, NY 

I28 I Fulton Street 
Brooklyn, NY 

4 Hanson Placc 
Brooklyn, NY 

59 Maiden Lane 
New York, NY 10038 
Stockholders Services: 1-800-937-5449 
(NY Stockholders: 2 12-936-5 100) 

ANNLJAL MEEIING 

The 2006 Annual Meeting of Stockholders 
will be held on Scpternber 12, 2006 at 
10:00 a.m. at The Apollo Theater, 253 
West 125Ih Street, New York, NY 10027. 

ANNUACR~PORI~ON FORM 10-K 
The Company has filed an annual report 
on Form 10-K for its fiscal year endcd 
March 31, 2006 with the SEC. 
Stockholders and other interested parties 
may obtain, free of charge, a copy of such 
annual report (excluding exhibits) and 
additional information by writing to Evan 
Jalazo, Vice President and Controller, 
Carver Bancorp, Inc., 75 West 125th 
Street, Ncw York, NY 10027, or 
telephoning (7 18) 230-2900. 1 15-02 Mcrrick Boulevard 

Jamaica, NY 
(St. Alhans @re) 

158-45 Archer Avenue 
Jamaica, NY 

CKEnlTS 

Thanks to: Patane Press, Innc: 

General Information 

INOEYtNDLNT AIJIXTORS 

KPMG LLP 
345 Park Avenue 
Ncw York, NY 10154 

SPECIAI, COI1NhI:I 

Thachcr Proffitt & Wood LCP 
Two World Financial Centcr 
NewYork, NY 10281 

Margaret D. Roberts 
Senior Vice President and 
Chief Himan Resources 0flicc.r 

61 



{R&ARER BANCORP, INC. 
Corporate Headquarters: 
75 West 125th Street 
New Yo rk, NY 10027 

Please visit our website at: wwwxarve rhank.com 

http://rhank.com

